
 CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS  

 

CITY COUNCIL REGULAR SESSION 

321 WALNUT STREET, GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TUESDAY, JUNE 20, 2023 – 7:00 PM 

Anyone wishing to address the city council regarding any topic on this agenda is requested to complete a 

card available at the city clerk's desk.  Speakers are respectfully requested to limit their comments to three 

(3) minutes. 

The city council prohibits the use of cell phones and other electronic devices which emit an audible sound 

during all meetings with the exception of law enforcement, fire and rescue or health care providers on 

call. Persons in violation may be requested to leave the meeting 

AGENDA 

Invocation & Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag - Pastor Phil Jacobs, Praise in the Park 

Roll Call 

Mayor to call on members of the audience wishing to address the Council on matters not on the Agenda. 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 

1. Second and Final Reading of Ordinance O-13-2023 and Adoption Hearing to amend the 

Comprehensive Plan to incorporate Multimodal and Mobility Fee Policies.  Michael Daniels 

2. Second and final reading Ordinance O-18-2023 which amends the residential solid waste 

monthly rates for City provided services from $19.00 to $19.95 monthly and for governmental, 

industrial commercial and the like noncontainerized services from $25.75 to $27.04 effective 

October 1, 2023. Mike Null 

3. Second and final reading City Ordinance No. O-19-2023 which increases the base charge and 

usage charge for the City stormwater utility. Mike Null 

4. Second and final reading of Ordinance O-17-2023 for parcel # 016450-001-01 for approximately 

1.33 acres located on the northwest corner of US Highway 17 and SR 16 requesting a Zoning 

Amendment 

From: Residential High Density, R-3     To:       C-2, General Commercial   Michael Daniels 

 

CONSENT AGENDA 

All matters under the consent agenda are considered to be routine by the city council and will be enacted 

by one motion in the form listed below. There will be no separate discussion on these items. If discussion 

is desired, that item will be removed from the consent agenda and will be considered separately. Backup 

documentation and staff recommendations have been previously submitted to the city council on these 

items. 

Page 1



June 20, 2023 Agenda Page 2 of 3 

 

 

5. City Council approval of Pay Application #9 from EltonAlan, Inc. for construction of the 

Palmetto Trail Project in the amount of $140,318.89 from the amended contract amount of 

$1,551,660.92, leaving a balance of $381,620.19 in the contract.  Mike Null 

6. City Council approval to issue a purchase order in the amount of $60,495.50 to Tampa Crane & 

Body to install cameras on 17 large city trucks.  Mike Null 

7. City Council approval to update City Code Section 113-190 Single and Three Phase service 

credits.  Andy Yeager 

8. City Council approval of the 4/18/2023 and 5/2/2023 Regular Session Minutes.  Erin West 

9. City Council approval of Task Order to Tocoi Engineering to modify and update the West Street 

Drainage Project plans in the amount of $36,000. Steve Thomas 

10. City Council approval of the Eagle Scout Recognition Proclamation for Evan Crook.  Erin West 

11. City Council approval of the Eagle Scout Recognition Proclamation for Tyler Crook.  Erin West 

COUNCIL BUSINESS 

12. City Manager & City Attorney Reports / Correspondence 

13. City Council Reports / Correspondence 

Adjournment 

 

 

The City Council meets the first and third Tuesday of each month beginning at 7:00 p.m., unless 

otherwise scheduled.  Meetings are held in City Hall at 321 Walnut Street.  Video and audio 

recordings of the meetings are available in the City Clerk’s Office upon request. 

City may take action on any matter during this meeting, including items that are not set forth within 

this agenda. 

Minutes of the City Council meetings can be obtained from the City Clerk’s office.   The Meetings 

are usually recorded, but are not transcribed verbatim for the minutes.  Persons requiring a 

verbatim transcript may make arrangements with the City Clerk to duplicate the recordings, if 

available, or arrange to have a court reporter present at the meeting.  The cost of duplication and/or 

court reporter will be at the expense of the requesting party. 

Persons who wish to appeal any decision made by the City Council with respect to any matter 

considered at this meeting will need a record of the proceedings, and for such purpose may need to 

ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, which record includes the testimony and 

evidence upon which the appeal is based.  The City is not responsible if the inhouse recording is 

incomplete for any reason. 

ADA NOTICE 

Page 2



June 20, 2023 Agenda Page 3 of 3 

 

 

In accordance with Section 286.26, Florida Statutes, persons with disabilities needing special 

accommodations to participate in this meeting should contact the City Clerk’s office no later than 5:00 

p.m. on the day prior to the meeting. 

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION: 

Pursuant to Section 286.0114, Florida Statutes, effective October 1, 2013, the public is invited to speak 

on any “proposition” before a board, commission, council, or appointed committee takes official action 

regardless of whether the issue is on the Agenda.  Certain exemptions for emergencies, ministerial acts, 

etc. apply.  This public participation does not affect the right of a person to be heard as otherwise provided 

by law. 

EXPARTE COMMUNICATIONS 

Oral or written exchanges (sometimes referred to as lobbying or information gathering) between a Council 

Member and others, including staff, where there is a substantive discussion regarding a quasijudicial 

decision by the City Council. The exchanges must be disclosed by the City Council so the public may 

respond to such exchanges before a vote is taken. 

 

Page 3



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA  

TO:  City Council  MEETING DATE: June 20, 2023 

FROM: Michael Daniels, Planning and Zoning Director 

SUBJECT: Second and Final Reading of Ordinance O-13-2023 and Adoption Hearing to 

amend the Comprehensive Plan to incorporate Multimodal and Mobility Fee 

Policies 
 

    

BACKGROUND 

At present, the City manages traditional transportation concurrency carried out through traffic impact 

analyses. Development applicants generating 40 or more net new peak hour trips must complete a traffic 

study to determine the impact of their development on area roadways and identify improvements 

necessary to mitigate that impact. Traffic studies, on average, take approximately six months to complete, 

which can slow the process of development approval and may prove to be a hindrance to medium-sized 

development. While this system does intend to support multimodality, the mitigation generally supports 

vehicles more than other modes of transportation and generally, due to the proportional share 

requirements, the necessary funding to enact needed improvements is not provided.   

 

In order to continue to manage the impacts of development and move toward a more multimodal 

transportation system, the City has hired Gannett Fleming to conduct a transportation mobility study to 

define the need for additional transportation investment, specifically multimodal, document the standards 

of service and rational for additional capacity and ensure that there is a rational nexus between the payees 

of the mobility fee and the beneficiaries.  This would provide more fee predictability for development 

applicants, as well as shorter application timelines without the need for a traffic study. It would further 

support the City in using funds collected to improve multimodal transportation capacity by improving 

walking and biking facilities as well as vehicular traffic, and potentially introducing additional transit 

services as the City and the region continue to grow.   

 

Gannett Fleming has provided a completed the mobility plan that address the following areas: 

 Land Use 

 Travel Demand 

 Transportation Improvements 

 Mobility Fees 

 Credits 

 Net Mobility Fees 

 Mobility Fee Schedule 

 Legal Application 

 Fee Schedule 

 Trip Rates 

Page 4

Item #1.



 Clay County in 2020 and as a result would be able to use much of the same data for the 

development of a mobility plan for the City of Green Cove Springs.   

 

   

Meeting  Date 

Kickoff Meeting (with City Staff) October 12, 2022 

City Council October 18, 2022 

Planning and Zoning Board October 25, 2022 

Stakeholder Meeting #1 October 27, 2022 

Stakeholder Meeting #2 November 14, 2022 

City Council November 15, 2022 

Planning and Zoning Board November 29, 2022 

Stakeholder Meeting #3 December 2, 2022 

City Council  December 13, 2023 

 

   
Pursuant to the Professional Services Agreement, the Consultant Team has provided the following 

information: 

 

 Updated the Regional Travel Demand Model to account for the recently annexed land in the City 

 Completed a Deficiency Analysis to identify areas where transportation improvements are 

required to address capacity deficiencies. 

 The consultant team has worked with staff and received input during the public outreach process 

to identify a project list with costs through 2045. 

 Person Miles Travelled (PMT) Fee was calculated by dividing the Project Costs by the growth 

in PMT as set forth below: 

 

Total Cost of New Capacity $16,529 

Cost for External Share of Capacity $2,293,001 

Cost for Local Share of Capacity $14,236,279 

Local PMT (non-EE) $85,621 

Cost per PMT $166.27 

 

 Credits – the consultant team has developed a mechanism for providing credits which can be 

offset from impact fees to reduce the possibility for users to pay for the same capacity more than 

once. 

 

The PMT fee and the Project Identification List, which is enclosed, were approved by City Council at the 

December 13, 2023 meeting.   

 

The consultant has now completed the Mobility Report.  The final step include the adoption of the mobilty 

ordinance in the Concurrency Management Chapter of the Land Development Regulations.  The 

Ordinance cannot go into effect until the final adoption of the Comprehensive Plan Amendemnts relating 

the mobility plan and fee.  The Ordinance includes the following sections   step includes the transmittal 

of the amended Comprehensive Plan policies regarding multimodal development and mobility fees to 

ensure that the subsequent mobility ordinance in the Land Development Regulations is compatible with 

the Comprehensive Plan. Policies in the Future Land Use, Transportation and Capital Improvement 

Elements were amended as set forth in the attached Ordinance.  The next steps are to transmit 

Page 5

Item #1.



amendments to the State Department of Economic Opportunity for review and then the Amendments can 

be taken to Council for final approval pursuant to state comments.  In addition, the City will need to adopt 

a mobility fee ordinance in the Land Development Regulations.   

 

Comments were received from the following state and regional agencies: 

 Department of Economic Opportunity 

 Department of Transportation 

 Department of State 

 St Johns Water Management District  

 Northeast Florida Regional Council 

 

The State did not find any adverse impacts to state facilities pursuant to their  review.  However they did 

recommend that the City the adopted LOS of “D” on all local and state roadways.  The City was proposing 

to eliminate this standard with the adoption of the Mobility fees.  However, based on the State’s 

recommendation, Staff has revised policy 8.3.1 to maintain the LOS D standard for evaluation and review 

purposes and clarifying that for new development projects they will be governed by the mobility fee 

requirements. 

 

As a result, staff is recommending approval of the adoption of the proposed revised Comprehensive Plan 

Amendments to the Future Land Use, Transportation and Capital Improvement Elements.  

                                                     RECOMMENDED MOTION 
Recommend approval of Ordinance O-13-2023 to adopt the proposed Comprehensive Plan Amendments 

to the Future Land Use, Transportation and Capital Improvement Elements to the Florida Department of 

Economic Opportunity. 

 

Page 6

Item #1.



 

ORDINANCE NO. O-13-2023 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA, 

PURSUANT TO THE COMMUNITY PLANNING ACT (CHAPTER 163, 

PART II, FLORIDA STATUTES), REVISING POLICIES 1.2.11, 1.3.2, 1.3.3, 

1.3.7, 1.3.9, 1.3.10, 1.6.2, 1.6.3, 1.6.7, 1.6.8, 1.7.1 OF THE FUTURE LAND USE 

ELEMENT TO ENSURE MULTIMODAL FACILITIES AND ACCESS; 

REVISING POLICIES 2.1.2, 2.1.3, 2.1.5, 2.1.6 AND 2.1.10 AND ELIMINATE 

POLICY 2.1.8 OF THE TRANSPORTATION ELEMENT TO ENSURE AND 

ENHANCE MULTIMODAL ACCESS; REVISING POLICIES 2.2.2, 2.2.3, 

2.2.6, 2.2.7, 2.3.1, 2.3.2, 2.4.1, 2.4.3, 2.4.4, AND 2.4.6 AND ELIMINATE POLICY 

2.3.5 OF THE TRANSPORTATION ELEMENT TO ENSURE SAFETY OF 

MULTIMODAL TRANSPORTATION; REVISING POLICIES 2.5.3, 2.5.4, 

2.5.5 AND 2.5.9 OF THE TRANSPORTATION ELEMENT TO ENSURE 

MOBILITY FEES ARE ASSESSED TO NET ADDITION NEW 

DEVELOPMENT TRIPS, REVISING POLICY 8.3.1 TO ADD A NOTE TO 

REVISE THE LOS STANDARDS FOR ROADWAYS AND ADD THE 

MOBILITY FEE SYSTEM OF THE CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS ELEMENT 

OF THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA; 

PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS, SEVERABILITY AND SETTING AN 

EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

WHEREAS, Section 163.3167, Florida Statutes (“FS”), empowers and requires the 

Green Cove Springs City Council (“Council”) to (a) plan for the City’s future 

development and growth and (b) adopt and amend Comprehensive Plans, or elements 

or portions thereof, to guide their future development and growth; and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 163.3174, FS, the Council has designated the 

Planning & Zoning Board (“Board”) as the Local Planning Agency (“LPA”) for the 

City of Green Cove Springs (“City”); and 

 

WHEREAS, the Board and Council directed City Staff to evaluate the Green Cove 

Springs Comprehensive Plan 2025; and 

 

WHEREAS, at a duly noticed public hearing on February 15, 2022, the Council held 

a public hearing to adopt the amended 2045 Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, in exercise of its authority, the Council has determined it necessary and 

desirable to adopt and revise policies in the 2045 Comprehensive Plan to require and 

enhance multi-mobility improvements within the City of Green Cove Springs.   

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ENACTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA, AS FOLLOWS: 

 

SECTION 1. RECITALS. The above recitals are true and correct and are hereby 

Page 7

Item #1.



Ordinance No. O-13-2023 

Page 2 of 10 
 

incorporated herein by reference. 
 

SECTION 2. TITLE. The revised version of the Comprehensive Plan for the City of 

Green Cove Springs, Florida, shall be entitled “Green Cove Springs Comprehensive 

Plan 2045”.   

 

SECTION 3. COMPREHNSIVE PLAN AMENDED. The following 

Comprehensive Plan Policies are amended: 

 

Future Land Use Element 

 
Policy 1.2.11. The City shall consider establishing a system of development incentives in the Land 

Development Code to encourage the provision of affordable housing, vertical mixed-use, green 

building and sustainable construction, dedication of public spaces (e.g., plaza, square) above and 

beyond what is already required, structure parking, pedestrian and bicycle facilities, transit 

amenities where transit service is provided, and other development features/treatments that would 

benefit the community. 

 

Policy 1.3.2. The City shall establish locational criteria in the LDC for future rezoning of sites 

to higher density and/or intensity districts. The following principles shall be considered:  

a. Compatibility means that different land uses can coexist in relative proximity to each other 

provided that a use is not impacted directly or indirectly by another use.  

b. Increases in density and intensity must generally occur in a gradual fashion, avoiding abrupt 

transitions.  

c. High density residential uses should generally be located in areas that have adequate vehicular     

multimodal access and proximity to service uses. 

d. Spot zoning should be avoided. Spot zoning refers to changing the zoning designation of a 

small parcel of land for a designation totally different from that of the surrounding area for the 

benefit of the owner of such property and to the detriment of other owners. 

 

Policy 1.3.3. As the City continues to grow, its LDC shall be updated to incorporate urban 

design principles, such as:  

a. Form-based code regulations for the downtown and surrounding areas;  

b. Smaller building setbacks and lot sizes;  

c. Green infrastructure;  

d. A reduction and relocation of vehicular parking spaces and areas to the rear or side of 

structures where appropriate , and 

e. Multimodal facilities, i.e., pedestrian, bicycle and transit facilities and amenities, which include 

street trees, street furniture, bicycle racks, and bicycle repair stations, and transit shelters where 

transit service is provided. 

 

Policy 1.3.7.  The City shall amend its LDC to provide additional design and compatibility 

requirements that address human scale and non-motorized multimodal access for developments located 

along major roadway corridors. 

 

Policy 1.3.9. The City shall seek to develop a signage and wayfinding master plan for motorists and 

non-motorized travelers to enhance the navigability, branding, and aesthetic character of the City. 

 

Policy 1.3.10. The City shall work with FDOT and the North Florida TPO to improve the image of 

the US 17 and SR 16 corridors by adding landscaping, banners, and other elements that would help 

Page 8

Item #1.



Ordinance No. O-13-2023 

Page 3 of 10 
 

create a sense of place and portray the historic character and human-scale of the city for visitors.  

 

Policy 1.6.2.  The City shall develop a master plan for the Downtown to update the overall 

vision for the area and address the following topics at a minimum: Economic vitality, 

multimodal access/connectivity to other parts of the City, balanced land use composition, 

vehicular and bicycle parking, streetscape design, urban form, public gathering spaces, and 

the identification of a pilot project. 

 

Policy 1.6.3. The City will assess Walnut Street and identify changes to make it safer and more 

attractive for all travelers. 

 

Policy 1.6.7. The City shall assess the current demand and availability of public and private 

parking spaces in the downtown area and plan for vehicular and bicycle adequate for future 

redevelopment activities.  

 

Policy 1.6.8. The City shall develop a neighborhood plan that addresses land use and multimodal 

access for the Martin Luther King, Jr. Avenue corridor. 

 

Policy 1.7.1. The City shall seek to develop a Small Area Plan (SAP) for all MURP-designated 

lands to establish a clear development path that implements the following planning and design 

principles:  

a. Create and reinforce the sense of place and character of the City through the use of 

traditional neighborhood development form and design criteria.  

b. Accumulate a diverse and expansive housing inventory which offers dwelling units of 

various sizes, types, occupation statuses, and price points.  

c. Cultivate a multi-modal transportation network which supports pedestrian, bicycle, and vehicular 

travel to achieve high levels of safety and security, connectivity, and mobility comfort between 

adjacent and nearby uses, character areas, and other FLU designations. 

d. Provide a framework for redevelopment in an environmentally responsible manner that 

preserves environmental systems and creates functional open space, including public access 

to the waterfront. 

 

Transportation Element 

 
Policy 2.1.2. The City shall enhance the feasibility of transit and alternative multimodal 

transportation modes by implementing higher densities and mixed-use as shown in the Future 

Land Use Map. 

Policy 2.1.3. New and improved streets within the City shall be designed and operated to enable 

safe access for all users, including pedestrians, bicyclists, freight, motorists and transit, and other 

transportation options according to the purpose of each street. 

Policy 2.1.4. The City shall establish a Complete Streets design guidebook and corridor 

prioritization plan to implement these policies. 

Policy 2.1.5. The City shall continue to coordinate with the North Florida Transportation 

Planning Organization (TPO), FDOT and Clay County to implement a Complete Streets concept 

along US 17/Orange Avenue between SR 16 and Orion Roadprojects supporting multi-modal 

transportation options in accordance with the Complete Streets guidebook. 

Policy 2.1.6. The City shall initiate coordination with the TPO, FDOT and Clay County to 

implement Complete Streets concepts along SR 16/Idlewild Avenue/Ferris Street. Other streets 

that should be considered for Complete Street designs include Oakridge Ave., Green Cove Ave., 

Palmetto Ave.,  and other local collectors. 

Page 9

Item #1.



Ordinance No. O-13-2023 

Page 4 of 10 
 

 Policy 2.1.8. The City shall ensure land uses along primary corridors support the goal of 

Complete Streets.adequate level of service standards for bicyclists, pedestrians, freight, motorists, transit, and other forms of multi-modal transportation. 

strategies when designing or approving new roadways or modifying existing roads in the City: 

a. Enclosure: Framing the road with street trees, 

buildings, on-street parking. 

b. Engagement: Connecting the driver with the 

surrounding environment using tools such as on- 

street parking, narrower lanes, architectural 

details, and pedestrian or bicyclist activity. 

c. Deflection: Creating vertical or horizontal shifts 

incorporating round-abouts, splitter medians, 

raised intersections, raised and or mid-block 

crosswalks, or similar designs. 

Policy 2.2.1. The City shall strive to reduce the number of traffic crashes and eliminate fatalities 

and serious injuries (FDOT’s Vision Zero). 

Policy 2.2.2. Intersections shall improve safety and ease of multimodal use be made pedestrian-

multi-modal friendly by limiting the pedestrian crossing width; use of adequate lighting; adequate 

timing for traffic signals; and the provision of facilities for persons with disabilities.  

Policy 2.2.3. Traffic operation improvements such as traffic signals, turn lanes, service roads, 

signing, and pavement marking shall be undertaken when warranted to improve the safety and 

efficiency of the existing roadway network for all transportation modes. 

Policy 2.2.4. Where applicable, the City shall consider traffic signal enhancements such as Lead 

Pedestrian Interval (LPI), Rectangular Rapid Flashing Beacons (RRFB), and pedestrian hybrid 

signals such as a High-Intensity Activated Crosswalk beacon (HAWK) signals. 

Policy 2.2.5. Crash records shall be investigated on a regular basis to determine whether 

improvements to the roadway network are warranted to relieve high crash conditions and 

cooperate with the FDOT on high crash locations on state highways. 

Policy 2.2.6. The LDC shall require that all new roadways and access driveways intersecting with 

existing roadways shall provide a clear zone where no objects will impair the sight of motorists 

multi-modal transportation at said intersections. 

Policy 2.2.7. The City shall continue to pave, maintain, and resurface its roads to ensure safe 

conditions for multi-modal options including bicycles. The paving of unpaved streets shall be 

done according to priority of need. Complete Streets designs shall be considered as part of 

repaving and resurfacing projects, where feasible. 

Policy 2.3.1. The City shall rely on level of service (LOS) standards adopted in the Capital 

Improvements Element to ensure that acceptable multimodal traffic conditions are maintained. for 

various transportation modes. 

Policy 2.3.2. Using information from FDOT and Clay County, the City shall monitor the 

multimodal travel demand and Q/LOS conditions for the transportation system. The current 

Florida DOT Q/LOS Handbook shall be used to develop a baseline and monitor conditions over 

time. The multimodal system of performance will inform future investment priorities within the 

Mobility Fee program.capacity or deficiency of each road segment. An annual report shall be 

prepared. 

Policy 2.3.5. The City will work with Clay County to establish a Transportation Concurrency 

Exception Area along US 17 to promote infill development and encourage use of alternative 

modes of transportation. 

Policy 2.4.2. The LDC shall require the development of multi-use trails, where appropriate. 

Page 10

Item #1.



Ordinance No. O-13-2023 

Page 5 of 10 
 

Policy 2.4.3. The City shall review development for consistency with the standards in the LDC to 

assure that adequate provisions exist for multi-modal transportation options, including pedestrians 

and bicycles. 

Policy 2.4.4. The City shall coordinate with Clay County and the FDOT to incorporate pedestrian 

walkways and bicycle paths, or multi-use trails, in conjunction with road improvements, where 

such need is demonstrated. 

Policy 2.4.5. The City shall continue to enforce all applicable bicycling laws. The City shall 

update the Green Cove Springs Trails Master Plan to address both sidewalks and trails, identify 

sidewalk gaps along major roadways, and establish main routes through the City, especially 

leading to the waterfront. 

Policy 2.4.6. The Master Plan shall inventory existing crosswalks at signalized intersections and 

shall identify recommended locations for golf cart multi-modal transportation crossings and 

additional pedestrian crossings. 

 

Objective 2.5. Development Design 

Policy 2.5.3. The City shall review development applications to confirm the types and mix of 

uses and the resulting number of trip ends produced by the land use change. ensure that adequate 

capacity is available to serve the proposed project. The latest version of Trip Generation Manual 

published by the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) shall be used to determine the 

number of trips that the proposed development will produce or attract. 

Policy 2.5.4. A Mobility Fee is assessed on the net additional new trips produced by the land use 

development. The Mobility Fee will be used to fund the necessary multimodal infrastructure 

improvements to accommodate future land use development based on the land use forecasts 

available at the time that the Mobility Fee was instituted. No new Development Orders shall be 

issued if the proposed project will reduce the 

operating conditions of the road system below the adopted level of service standard, except where 

new projects listed in the Capital Improvements Element are programmed for construction within 

5 years that will ensure that the Level of Service requirements are met.  

Policy 2.5.5. In partnership with FDOT and Clay County requirements, the LDC shall require 

future developments to provide true vehicular and pedestrianmulti-modal transit connectivity (as 

opposed to just “entrances” to the developments), internally and to surrounding areas, to provide 

multiple alternative access/exit points to/from the development. 

Policy 2.5.9. The LDC shall contain provisions for on- site parking for motorized and non-

motorized vehicles, internal automobile circulation, circulation of motorized and non-motorized 

vehicles, bicycle use, golf carts, pedestrian movement, multi-use trails, and other features to 

minimize utilization of the major roadway network and provide facilities for multiple 

transportation options. 

 

Policy 8.3.1. The City shall require that public facilities meet or exceed the following Level of Service 

Standards.  

  

Page 11

Item #1.



Ordinance No. O-13-2023 

Page 6 of 10 
 

PUBLIC 

FACILITY LOS STANDARD 

ROADS 

 Shall Comply with Requirements Set forth in the Mobility Fee Policy 2.5..4 

and the Land Development Regulations. 

PRINCIPAL 

ARTERIALS  

“D” peak hour traffic* 

MINOR 

ARTERIALS 

“D” peak hour traffic* 

COLLECTOR “D” peak hour traffic* 

LOCAL ROAD “D” peak hour traffic* 

 * The Florida Q/LOS Handbook shall be used to monitor level of service 

to inform future investment priorities and change investments accordingly 

and to be used in concert with the annual review set forth in Policy 8.3.2.  

Individual development projects producing net new trips shall be 

governed by the Mobility Fee requirements set forth in Policy 2.5.4.   

 

UTILITIES 

Sanitary Sewer 120 gallons per person per day 

Potable Water 150 gallons per person per day 

Solid Waste 4 pounds per capita per day 
STORMWATER LEVEL OF SERVICE (LOS) STANDARDS/DESIGN CRITERIA 

Facility Description Standard 
Physical 

Reference 

Roadway Ditches, 
Culverts, and 
Crossdrains  

Evacuation Routes & 
Arterials 

50 year / 24 hour for open system 
HGL 1.0’ Below 

EOP/TOB 

10 year / 10 minute for piped 
system 

HGL 1.0’ Below 
Gutter 

Collector Road  

25 year / 24 hour for open system 
HGL 0.5’ Below 

EOP/TOB 

3 year / 10 minute for piped 
system 

HGL 0.5’ Below 
Gutter 

Local/Residential Road  

10 year / 24 hour for open system 
HGL 0.5’ Below 

EOP/TOB 

3 year / 10 minute for piped 
system 

HGL 0.0’ Below 
Gutter 

Storm Sewer 
Systems 

Roadway or 
Development 

3 year / 10 minute 
Refer to roadway 

classification above 

Retention Basins 

Outfall to Open Stream 
or Lake Watershed 

Critical Duration (Up to 24 hour) 
100-year storm (post ≤ pre runoff 

peak rate) 

Flood Stage 0.5’ 
Below TOB 

Outfall to a Closed 
Watershed 

Critical Duration (Up to 24 hour) 
100-year storm is retained and 

that only pre-development runoff 
volume is discharged at rates not 
to exceed the pre-development 

rates 

Flood Stage 1.0’ 
Below TOB 

Landlocked Areas with 
No Positive Outfall 

Critical Duration (Up to 24 hour) 
100-year storm (retain total 

Flood Stage 1.0’ 
Below TOB 

Page 12

Item #1.



Ordinance No. O-13-2023 

Page 7 of 10 
 

PUBLIC 

FACILITY LOS STANDARD 

volume of runoff from contributing 
area with no discharge) 

Detention Basins 
Outfall to Open Stream 

or Lake Watershed 

Critical Duration (Up to 24 hour) 
25-year storm (post ≤ pre runoff 

peak rate) 

Flood Stage 0.5’ 
Below TOB 

Water Quality 

Treatment of 
Stormwater in 

Accordance with 
Chapter 62-330 F.A.C. 

For Class III -Off-line retention of 
the first 1/2 inch of runoff or 1.25 

inches of runoff from the 
impervious area, whichever is 

greater. 
plus on-line retention of an 

additional one half inch of runoff 
from the drainage 

area over that volume specified 
for off-line treatment. 

For Class I, II or OFW provide an 
additional 50% treatment from 

what is determined above. 

N/A 

HGL = Hydraulic Grade line, EOP = Edge of Pavement, TOB = Top of Bank 
Critical Duration: The duration of a specific storm event (i.e., 100-year, 1 hour storm) which creates 
the largest volume or highest rate of net stormwater runoff (post-development runoff less pre-
development runoff) for typical durations up through and including the 24-hour duration event.  The 
critical duration is determined by comparing various durations of the specified storm and calculating 
the peak rate and volume of runoff for each.  The duration resulting in the highest peak rate or 
largest total volume is the “critical-duration” storm. Rainfall amounts shall be determined by the 
FDOT District 5 IDF curves. 

 

RECREATION / OPEN SPACE 

Generally Neighborhood / Pocket Parks 

5 acres per 1,000 population* 

Community Parks 

2 acres per 1,000 population* 

Notes: 

- Community Parks also function and count as neighborhood parks, so 

long as they are within a residential area.* 

- All residents not located within subdivisions with privatized recreation 

facilities should be within a quarter mile of a Neighborhood Park or 

Pocket Park and 1.5 miles of a Community Park. 

- Residential Developers shall pay a park dedication fee, if implemented by 

City Council. Providing public park space in their development shall 

reduce that fee. 

*Park Level of Service requirements shall remain at 5 acres per 1,000 population 

until the completion of the Master Parks Plan and implementation of a capital 

improvement plan which both define how the new Level of Service Requirements 

can be met.    

Private / Gated 

Neighborhoods 

Such neighborhoods shall provide within their community recreational 

facilities and open space meeting the LOS standard. This space, as it is not 

open to the public, will not count toward the City’s LOS. Developers of 

Page 13

Item #1.



Ordinance No. O-13-2023 

Page 8 of 10 
 

PUBLIC 

FACILITY LOS STANDARD 

such neighborhoods shall also pay a park dedication fee, if implemented, 

which may be reduced through construction of a public park. 

PUBLIC SCHOOL FACILITIES** 

Elementary 

Schools 

110% of capacity 

Middle Schools 110% of capacity 

High Schools 110% of capacity 

 

SECTION 4. REPEALER. Any ordinances or parts thereof in conflict with the 

provisions of this Ordinance are hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 

 

SECTION 5. SEVERABILITY. The various parts, sections, and clauses of this 

Ordinance are hereby declared to be severable. If any part, sentence, paragraph, 

section, or clause is adjudged unconstitutional or invalid by a court of competent 

jurisdiction, the remainder of the Ordinance shall not be affected thereby. 

 

SECTION 6. EFFECTIVE DATE. The effective date of this ordinance, if the 

ordinance is not timely challenged, shall be 31 days after the state land planning 

agency notifies the local government that the plan amendment package is complete. If 

the amendment is timely challenged, this amendment shall become effective on the 

date the state land planning agency or the Administration Commission enters a final 

order determining this adopted amendment to be in compliance. No development 

orders, development permits, or development dependent on this amendment may be 

issued or commence before it has become effective."   

 

INTRODUCED AND APPROVED AS TO FORM ONLY ON THE FIRST 

READING BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GREEN COVE 

SPRINGS, FLORIDA, IN REGULAR SESSION THIS 4th DAY OF APRIL, 

2023. 

 

 

CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 

 
         

Daniel M. Johnson, Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 
 

Erin West, City Clerk 
 

Page 14

Item #1.



Ordinance No. O-13-2023 

Page 9 of 10 
 

 
APPROVED AS TO FORM ONLY: 

 

 
 

L. J. Arnold, III, City Attorney 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PASSED ON SECOND AND FINAL READING BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF 

THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA, IN REGULAR SESSION 

THIS 6th  DAY OF JUNE, 2023. 

 

 

CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 

 
         

Constance W. Butler, Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 
 

Erin West, City Clerk 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM ONLY: 

 

 
 

L. J. Arnold, III, City Attorney 

Page 15

Item #1.



Ordinance No. O-13-2023 

Page 10 of 10 
 

 

Page 16

Item #1.



Proposed Comprehensive Plan Text 
Changes 
 
Future Land Use Element 

OBJECTIVE 1.2. Sustainability  

The City shall strive to cultivate a sustainable land use pattern by preventing the proliferation of 
urban sprawl, ensuring the efficient provision of services, and implementing smart growth 
principles. 
Policy 1.2.11. The City shall consider establishing a system of development incentives in the 
Land Development Code to encourage the provision of affordable housing, vertical mixed-use, 
green building and sustainable construction, dedication of public spaces (e.g., plaza, square) 
above and beyond what is already required, structure parking, pedestrian and bicycle facilities, 
transit amenities where transit service is provided, and other development features/treatments 
that would benefit the community. 

OBJECTIVE 1.3. Character & Compatibility 

Future development and redevelopment projects shall protect the City’s unique character, 
historic neighborhoods, and high quality of life. 
Policy 1.3.2. The City shall establish locational criteria in the LDC for future rezoning of sites to 
higher density and/or intensity districts. The following principles shall be considered: … 

c. High density residential uses should generally be located in areas that have adequate 
multimodal access and proximity to service uses. 

 
Policy 1.3.3. As the City continues to grow, its LDC shall be updated to incorporate urban design 
principles, such as: 

a. Form-based code regulations for the downtown and surrounding areas;  

b. Smaller building setbacks and lot sizes;  

c. Green infrastructure;  

d. A reduction and relocation of vehicular parking spaces and areas to the rear or side of 
structures where appropriate, and 
e. Multimodal facilities, i.e., pedestrian, bicycle and transit facilities and amenities, which 
include street trees, street furniture, bicycle racks, and bicycle repair stations, and 
transit shelters where transit service is provided. 

 
Policy 1.3.7. The City shall amend its LDC to provide additional design and compatibility 
requirements that address human scale and non-motorized multimodal access for developments 
located along major roadway corridors. 
 
Policy 1.3.9. The City shall seek to develop a signage and wayfinding master plan for motorists 
and non-motorized travelers to enhance the navigability, branding, and aesthetic character of 
the City. 
 
Policy 1.3.10. The City shall work with FDOT and the North Florida TPO to improve the image of 

EXHIBIT A

Page 17

Item #1.



the US 17 and SR 16 corridors by adding landscaping, banners, and other elements that would 
help create a sense of place and portray the historic character and human-scale of the city for 
visitors.  
 

OBJECTIVE 1.6. Redevelopment and Renewal: The City shall continue to redevelop and invest 
in blighted areas of the City. 
Policy 1.6.2. The City shall develop a master plan for the Downtown to update the overall vision 
for the area and address the following topics at a minimum: Economic vitality, multimodal 
access/connectivity to other parts of the City, balanced land use composition, vehicular and 
bicycle parking, streetscape design, urban form, public gathering spaces, and the identification 
of a pilot project. 

⧫ This policy broadly mentions access/connectivity and parking as topics for the downtown 

master plan. These topics are too often viewed from the perspective of motorized 

travelers. Revisions to “multimodal access/connectivity” and “vehicular and bicycle 

parking” would strengthen this policy. 

Policy 1.6.3. The City will assess Walnut Street and identify changes to make it safer and more 
attractive for all travelers. 

⧫ This policy should specify a “for whom” audience. Safety and attractiveness may be 

concerns for motorists, for non-motorists, or for all travelers.  

Policy 1.6.7. The City shall assess the current demand and availability of public and private 
parking spaces in the downtown area and plan for vehicular and bicycle adequate for future 
redevelopment activities.  

⧫ Like Policy 1.6.2., this policy could be strengthened by incorporating a reference to 

vehicular and bicycle parking, such as “assess the current demand and availability of 

public and private parking spaces in the downtown area and plan for vehicular and 

bicycle parking adequate for future development conditions.  

Policy 1.6.8. The City shall develop a neighborhood plan that addresses land use and 
multimodal access for the Martin Luther King, Jr. Avenue corridor. 

⧫ This policy falls short in defining what the neighborhood plan should address, as Policy 

1.6.2 above defines for the downtown. If pedestrian, bicycle, and/or transit concerns 

exist, these should be identified.  

OBJECTIVE 1.7. MURP-Designated Lands: Understanding the scale, economic importance and 
redevelopment potential of the Reynolds Park property, the City shall establish a framework for 
the redevelopment of MURP lands into a livable and sustainable community. 
Policy 1.7.1. The City shall seek to develop a Small Area Plan (SAP) for all MURP-designated 
lands to establish a clear development path that implements the following planning and design 
principles:  

c. Cultivate a multi-modal transportation network which supports pedestrian, bicycle, 
and vehicular travel to achieve high levels of safety and security, connectivity, and 
comfort between adjacent and nearby uses, character areas, and other FLU 
designations. 

Page 18

Item #1.



Transportation Element 

 
GCS Mobility Plan – Comprehensive Plan, Transportation Element Update 
Objective 2.1. Multi-Modal System 

Policy 2.1.2. The City shall enhance the feasibility of transit and multimodal 

transportation  by implementing higher densities and mixed-use as shown in the Future 

Land Use Map. 

Policy 2.1.3. New and improved streets within the City shall be designed and operated to 

enable safe access for all users, including pedestrians, bicyclists, freight, motorists and 

transit, and other transportation options. 

Policy 2.1.5. The City shall continue to coordinate with the North Florida Transportation 

Planning Organization (TPO), FDOT and Clay County to implement projects supporting 

multi-modal transportation options in accordance with the Complete Streets guidebook. 

Policy 2.1.6. The City shall initiate coordination with the TPO, FDOT and Clay County to 

implement Complete Streets concepts along SR 16/Idlewild Avenue/Ferris Street. Other 

streets that should be considered for Complete Street designs include Oakridge Ave., 

Green Cove Ave, Palmetto Ave., and other local collectors. 

Policy 2.1.10. The City shall consider the following speed and multi-modal safety 

management strategies when designing or approving new roadways or modifying 

existing roads in the City: 

a. Enclosure: Framing the road with street trees, 

buildings, on-street parking. 

b. Engagement: Connecting the driver with the 

surrounding environment using tools such as on- 

street parking, narrower lanes, architectural 

details, and pedestrian or bicyclist activity. 

c. Deflection: Creating vertical or horizontal shifts 

incorporating round-abouts, splitter medians, 

raised intersections, raised and or mid-block 

crosswalks, or similar designs. 

Objective 2.2. Safe and Convenient 
Policy 2.2.2. Intersections shall improve safety and ease of multimodal use by limiting 

the pedestrian crossing width; use of adequate lighting; adequate timing for traffic 

signals; and the provision of facilities for persons with disabilities.  

Policy 2.2.3. Traffic operation improvements such as traffic signals, turn lanes, service 

roads, signing, and pavement marking shall be undertaken when warranted to improve 

the safety and efficiency of the existing roadway network for all transportation modes. 

Policy 2.2.6. The LDC shall require that all new roadways and access driveways 

intersecting with 

existing roadways shall provide a clear zone where no objects will impair the sight of 

multi-modal transportation at said intersections. 

Policy 2.2.7. The City shall continue to pave, maintain, and resurface its roads to ensure 

safe conditions for multi-modal options including bicycles. The paving of unpaved streets 

Page 19

Item #1.



shall be done according to priority of need. Complete Streets designs shall be considered 

as part of repaving and resurfacing projects, where feasible. 

 
Objective 2.3. System Performance 

Policy 2.3.1. The City shall rely on level of service (LOS) standards adopted in the 

Capital Improvements Element to ensure that acceptable multimodal traffic conditions 

are maintained. 

Policy 2.3.2. Using information from FDOT and Clay County, the City shall monitor the 

multimodal travel demand and Q/LOS conditions for the transportation system. The 

current Florida DOT Q/LOS Handbook shall be used to develop a baseline and monitor 

conditions over time. The multimodal system of performance will inform future 

investment priorities within the Mobility Fee program.. 

 

Objective 2.4. Pedestrian and Bicycle System Safety 
Policy 2.4.1. The City’s LDC shall contain standards for the construction of multi-modal 

transportation facilities. 

Policy 2.4.3. The City shall review development for consistency with the standards in the 

LDC to assure that adequate provisions exist for multi-modal transportation options, 

including pedestrians and bicycles. 

Policy 2.4.4. The City shall coordinate with Clay County and the FDOT to incorporate 

pedestrian 

walkways and bicycle paths, or multi-use trails, in conjunction with road improvements,. 

Policy 2.4.6. The Master Plan shall inventory existing crosswalks at signalized 

intersections and shall identify recommended locations for multi-modal transportation 

crossings and additional pedestrian crossings. 

 
Objective 2.5. Development Design 

Policy 2.5.3. The City shall review development applications to confirm the types and 

mix of uses and the resulting number of trip ends produced by the land use change. The 

latest version of Trip Generation Manual published by the Institute of Transportation 

Engineers (ITE) shall be used to determine the number of trips that the proposed 

development will produce or attract. 

Policy 2.5.4. A Mobility Fee is assessed on the net additional new trips produced by the 

land use development. The Mobility Fee will be used to fund the necessary multimodal 

infrastructure improvements to accommodate future land use development based on the 

land use forecasts available at the time that the Mobility Fee was instituted.  

• Policy 2.5.9. The LDC shall contain provisions for on- site parking for motorized and non-

motorized vehicles, internal automobile circulation, circulation of motorized and non-

motorized vehicles, bicycle use, golf carts, pedestrian movement, multi-use trails, and 

other features to minimize utilization of the major roadway network and provide facilities 

for multiple transportation options. 

 
Capital Improvement 
Objective 8.3. Level of Service (LOS) Standards 

• Policy 8.3.1. The City shall require that public facilities meet or exceed the following 

Level of Service Standards.  

Page 20

Item #1.



Policy 8.3.1.  The City shall require that public facilities shall meet or exceed the following Level 

of Service Standards. 

 

PUBLIC FACILITY LOS STANDARD 

ROADS Shall comply with requirements set forth in 

the Mobility fee policy 2.5.4 and the Land 

Development Regulations 

 

 

 

 

   

ROADS 

PRINCIPAL ARTERIALS  “D” peak hour traffic  

MINOR ARTERIALS “D” peak hour traffic  

COLLECTOR “D” peak hour traffic  

LOCAL ROAD “D” peak hour traffic  

 

* The Florida Q/LOS Handbook shall be used to monitor level of service to inform future investment 

priorities and change investments accordingly and to be used in concert with the annual review set 

forth in Policy 8.3.2.  Individual development projects producing net new trips shall be governed by 

the Mobility Fee requirements set forth in Policy 2.5.4.   

LOS STANDARDPUBLIC FACILITY

*

*
*
*

Page 21

Item #1.



Proposed Comprehensive Plan Text 
Changes 
 
Future Land Use Element 

OBJECTIVE 1.2. Sustainability  

The City shall strive to cultivate a sustainable land use pattern by preventing the proliferation of 
urban sprawl, ensuring the efficient provision of services, and implementing smart growth 
principles. 
Policy 1.2.11. The City shall consider establishing a system of development incentives in the 
Land Development Code to encourage the provision of affordable housing, vertical mixed-use, 
green building and sustainable construction, dedication of public spaces (e.g., plaza, square) 
above and beyond what is already required, structure parking, pedestrian and bicycle facilities, 
transit amenities where transit service is provided, and other development features/treatments 
that would benefit the community. 

OBJECTIVE 1.3. Character & Compatibility 

Future development and redevelopment projects shall protect the City’s unique character, 
historic neighborhoods, and high quality of life. 
Policy 1.3.2. The City shall establish locational criteria in the LDC for future rezoning of sites to 
higher density and/or intensity districts. The following principles shall be considered: … 

c. High density residential uses should generally be located in areas that have adequate 
vehicular multimodal access and proximity to service uses. 

 
Policy 1.3.3. As the City continues to grow, its LDC shall be updated to incorporate urban design 
principles, such as: 

a. Form-based code regulations for the downtown and surrounding areas;  

b. Smaller building setbacks and lot sizes;  

c. Green infrastructure; and  

d. A reduction and relocation of vehicular parking spaces and areas to the rear or side of 
structures where appropriate, and. 
e. Multimodal facilities, i.e., pedestrian, bicycle and transit facilities and amenities, which 
include street trees, street furniture, bicycle racks, and bicycle repair stations, and 
transit shelters where transit service is provided. 

 
Policy 1.3.7. The City shall amend its LDC to provide additional design and compatibility 
requirements that address human scale and non-motorized multimodal access for developments 
located along major roadway corridors. 
 
Policy 1.3.9. The City shall seek to develop a signage and wayfinding master plan for motorists 
and non-motorized travelers to enhance the navigability, branding, and aesthetic character of 
the City. 
 
Policy 1.3.10. The City shall work with FDOT and the North Florida TPO to improve the image of 

EXHIBIT B

Page 22

Item #1.



the US 17 and SR 16 corridors by adding landscaping, banners, and other elements that would 
help create a sense of place and portray the historic character and human-scale of the city for 
visitors.  
 

OBJECTIVE 1.6. Redevelopment and Renewal: The City shall continue to redevelop and invest 
in blighted areas of the City. 
Policy 1.6.2. The City shall develop a master plan for the Downtown to update the overall vision 
for the area and address the following topics at a minimum: Economic vitality, multimodal 
access/connectivity to other parts of the City, balanced land use composition, vehicular and 
bicycle parking, streetscape design, urban form, public gathering spaces, and the identification 
of a pilot project. 

⧫ This policy broadly mentions access/connectivity and parking as topics for the downtown 

master plan. These topics are too often viewed from the perspective of motorized 

travelers. Revisions to “multimodal access/connectivity” and “vehicular and bicycle 

parking” would strengthen this policy. 

Policy 1.6.3. The City will assess Walnut Street and identify changes to make it safer and more 
attractive for all travelers. 

⧫ This policy should specify a “for whom” audience. Safety and attractiveness may be 

concerns for motorists, for non-motorists, or for all travelers.  

Policy 1.6.7. The City shall assess the current demand and availability of public and private 
parking spaces in the downtown area and plan for vehicular and bicycle adequate for future 
redevelopment activities.  

⧫ Like Policy 1.6.2., this policy could be strengthened by incorporating a reference to 

vehicular and bicycle parking, such as “assess the current demand and availability of 

public and private parking spaces in the downtown area and plan for vehicular and 

bicycle parking adequate for future development conditions.  

Policy 1.6.8. The City shall develop a neighborhood plan that addresses land use and 
multimodal access for the Martin Luther King, Jr. Avenue corridor. 

⧫ This policy falls short in defining what the neighborhood plan should address, as Policy 

1.6.2 above defines for the downtown. If pedestrian, bicycle, and/or transit concerns 

exist, these should be identified.  

OBJECTIVE 1.7. MURP-Designated Lands: Understanding the scale, economic importance and 
redevelopment potential of the Reynolds Park property, the City shall establish a framework for 
the redevelopment of MURP lands into a livable and sustainable community. 
Policy 1.7.1. The City shall seek to develop a Small Area Plan (SAP) for all MURP-designated 
lands to establish a clear development path that implements the following planning and design 
principles:  

c. Cultivate a multi-modal transportation network which supports pedestrian, bicycle, 
and vehicular travel to achieve high levels of safety and security, connectivity, and 
mobility comfort between adjacent and nearby uses, character areas, and other FLU 
designations. 

Page 23

Item #1.



Transportation Element 

 
GCS Mobility Plan – Comprehensive Plan, Transportation Element Update 
Objective 2.1. Multi-Modal System 

Policy 2.1.2. The City shall enhance the feasibility of transit and alternative multimodal 

transportation modes by implementing higher densities and mixed-use as shown in the 

Future Land Use Map. 

Policy 2.1.3. New and improved streets within the City shall be designed and operated to 

enable safe access for all users, including pedestrians, bicyclists, freight, motorists and 

transit, and other transportation options according to the purpose of each street. 

Policy 2.1.5. The City shall continue to coordinate with the North Florida Transportation 

Planning Organization (TPO), FDOT and Clay County to implement a Complete Streets 

concept along US 17/Orange Avenue between SR 16 and Orion Roadprojects supporting 

multi-modal transportation options in accordance with the Complete Streets guidebook. 

Policy 2.1.6. The City shall initiate coordination with the TPO, FDOT and Clay County to 

implement Complete Streets concepts along SR 16/Idlewild Avenue/Ferris Street. Other 

streets that should be considered for Complete Street designs include Oakridge Ave., 

Green Cove Ave., Palmetto Ave.,  and other local collectors. 

Policy 2.1.8. The City shall ensure land uses along primary corridors support the goal of 

Complete Streets.adequate level of service standards for bicyclists, pedestrians, freight, 

motorists, transit, and other forms of multi-modal transportation. 

Policy 2.1.10. The City shall consider the following speed and multi-modal safety 

management strategies when designing or approving new roadways or modifying 

existing roads in the City: 

a. Enclosure: Framing the road with street trees, 

buildings, on-street parking. 

b. Engagement: Connecting the driver with the 

surrounding environment using tools such as on- 

street parking, narrower lanes, architectural 

details, and pedestrian or bicyclist activity. 

c. Deflection: Creating vertical or horizontal shifts 

incorporating round-abouts, splitter medians, 

raised intersections, raised and or mid-block 

crosswalks, or similar designs. 

Objective 2.2. Safe and Convenient 
Policy 2.2.2. Intersections shall improve safety and ease of multimodal use be made 

pedestrian-multi-modal friendly by limiting the pedestrian crossing width; use of 

adequate lighting; adequate timing for traffic signals; and the provision of facilities for 

persons with disabilities.  

Policy 2.2.3. Traffic operation improvements such as traffic signals, turn lanes, service 

roads, signing, and pavement marking shall be undertaken when warranted to improve 

the safety and efficiency of the existing roadway network for all transportation modes. 

Page 24

Item #1.



Policy 2.2.6. The LDC shall require that all new roadways and access driveways 

intersecting with 

existing roadways shall provide a clear zone where no objects will impair the sight of 

motorists multi-modal transportation at said intersections. 

Policy 2.2.7. The City shall continue to pave, maintain, and resurface its roads to ensure 

safe conditions for multi-modal options including bicycles. The paving of unpaved streets 

shall be done according to priority of need. Complete Streets designs shall be considered 

as part of repaving and resurfacing projects, where feasible. 

 
Objective 2.3. System Performance 

Policy 2.3.1. The City shall rely on level of service (LOS) standards adopted in the 

Capital Improvements Element to ensure that acceptable multimodal traffic conditions 

are maintained. for various transportation modes. 

Policy 2.3.2. Using information from FDOT and Clay County, the City shall monitor the 

multimodal travel demand and Q/LOS conditions for the transportation system. The 

current Florida DOT Q/LOS Handbook shall be used to develop a baseline and monitor 

conditions over time. The multimodal system of performance will inform future 

investment priorities within the Mobility Fee program.capacity or deficiency of each road 

segment. An annual report shall be prepared. 

Policy 2.3.5. The City will work with Clay County to establish a Transportation 

Concurrency Exception Area along US 17 to promote infill development and encourage  

Objective 2.4. Pedestrian and Bicycle System Safety 
Policy 2.4.1. The City’s LDC shall contain standards for the construction of pedestrian 

and bicyclemulti-modal transportation facilities. 

Policy 2.4.3. The City shall review development for consistency with the standards in the 

LDC to assure that adequate provisions exist for multi-modal transportation options, 

including pedestrians and bicycles. 

Policy 2.4.4. The City shall coordinate with Clay County and the FDOT to incorporate 

pedestrian 

walkways and bicycle paths, or multi-use trails, in conjunction with road improvements, 

where such need is demonstrated. 

Policy 2.4.6. The Master Plan shall inventory existing crosswalks at signalized 

intersections and shall identify recommended locations for golf cart multi-modal 

transportation crossings and additional pedestrian crossings. 

 
Objective 2.5. Development Design 

Policy 2.5.3. The City shall review development applications to confirm the types and 

mix of uses and the resulting number of trip ends produced by the land use change. The 

ensure that adequate capacity is 

available to serve the proposed project. The latest version of Trip Generation Manual 

published by the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) shall be used to determine 

the number of trips that the proposed development will produce or attract. 

Policy 2.5.4. A Mobility Fee is assessed on the net additional new trips produced by the 

land use development. The Mobility Fee will be used to fund the necessary multimodal 

infrastructure improvements to accommodate future land use development based on the 

land use forecasts available at the time that the Mobility Fee was instituted. No new 

Page 25

Item #1.



 

 

 

 

 

 

Development Orders shall be issued if the proposed project will reduce the 

operating conditions of the road system below the adopted level of service standard, 

except where new projects listed in the Capital Improvements Element are programmed 

for construction within 5 years that will ensure that the Level of Service requirements 

are met. 

• Policy 2.5.9. The LDC shall contain provisions for on- site parking for motorized and non- 

motorized vehicles, internal automobile circulation, circulation of motorized and non- 

motorized vehicles, bicycle use, golf carts, pedestrian movement, multi-use trails, and 

other features to minimize utilization of the major roadway network and provide facilities 

for multiple transportation options. 

 
Capital Improvement 

Objective 8.3. Level of Service (LOS) Standards 

• Policy 8.3.1. The City shall require that public facilities meet or exceed the following 

Level of Service Standards. 

   

ROADS 

PRINCIPAL ARTERIALS  “D” peak hour traffic* 

MINOR ARTERIALS “D” peak hour traffic* 

COLLECTOR “D” peak hour traffic* 

LOCAL ROAD “D” peak hour traffic* 

 

* The Florida Q/LOS Handbook shall be used to monitor level of service to inform future investment 

priorities and change investments accordingly and to be used in concert with the annual review set 

forth in Policy 8.3.2.  Individual development projects producing net new trips shall be governed by 

the Mobility Fee requirements set forth in Policy 2.5.4.   

 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

LOS STANDARDPUBLIC FACILITY

Page 26

Item #1.



Page 27

Item #1.



Page 28

Item #1.



Page 29

Item #1.



Page 30

Item #1.



1

Michael P. Daniels

From: Steve Fitzgibbons <SFitzgibbons@sjrwmd.com>

Sent: Monday, May 1, 2023 10:27 AM

To: Michael P. Daniels

Cc: DCPexternalagencycomments@deo.myflorida.com

Subject: City of Green Cove Springs proposed comprehensive plan amendment 23-01ESR 

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. .  Do not click links or open attachments unless you 
recognize the sender and know the content is safe. 

Dear Mr. Daniels, 
 
St. Johns River Water Management District (District) staff have reviewed City of Green Cove Springs proposed 
comprehensive plan amendment 23-01ESR in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 163, Florida Statutes (F.S.). 
Based on review of the submitted materials, District staff have no comments on the proposed amendment.  
 
If you have any questions or need additional information, please contact me.  
 
Please note that all proposed and adopted comprehensive plan amendments can be submitted to the District by email 
at sfitzgibbons@sjrwmd.com. 
 
Sincerely, 
Steve Fitzgibbons 
 
Steven Fitzgibbons, AICP 
Intergovernmental Planner 
St. Johns River Water Management District  
7775 Baymeadows Way, Suite 102 
Jacksonville, FL 32256 
Office (386) 312-2369 
Email: sfitzgib@sjrwmd.com 
Website: https://link.edgepilot.com/s/db7e20c1/l-h5TG9c2EK9jVreTem29A?u=http://www.sjrwmd.com/ 
Connect with us: Newsletter, Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, YouTube, Pinterest 
 

 
 
We value your opinion. Please take a few minutes to share your comments on the service you received from the District 
by clicking this link  
 
Notices  
• Emails to and from the St. Johns River Water Management District are archived and, unless exempt or confidential by 
law, are subject to being made available to the public upon request. Users should not have an expectation of 
confidentiality or privacy.  
? Individuals lobbying the District must be registered as lobbyists (§112.3261, Florida Statutes). Details, applicability and 
the registration form are available at 

Page 31

Item #1.



2

https://link.edgepilot.com/s/b565be8c/h39IJla7m02EYMgC53avOQ?u=http://www.sjrwmd.com/lobbyist/  
 
Links contained in this email have been replaced. If you click on a link in the email above, the link will be analyzed for 
known threats. If a known threat is found, you will not be able to proceed to the destination. If suspicious content is 
detected, you will see a warning.  

Page 32

Item #1.



 
Florida Department of Transportation 

RON DESANTIS 
GOVERNOR 

2198 Edison Avenue MS 2806 
Jacksonville, FL  32204-2730 

JARED W. PERDUE, P.E. 
SECRETARY 

 

 www.dot.state.fl.us  

May 12, 2023 
 
Michael Daniels, Planning and Zoning Director 
City of Green Cove Springs 
321 Walnut Street 
Green Cove Springs, FL 32043 
 
SUBJECT: City of Green Cove Springs Proposed Comprehensive Plan Amendment (23-
1ESR)  
 
Dear Mr. Daniels, 
 
Pursuant to Section 163.3184(3), Florida Statutes (F.S.), in its role as a reviewing agency as 
identified in Section 163.3184(1)(c), F.S., the Florida Department of Transportation (FDOT) 
reviewed proposed amendment, City of Green Cove Springs 23-1ESR.  

The City of Green Cove Springs has transmitted text amendments to the Future Land Use, 
Transportation, and Capital Improvement Elements of the Comprehensive Plan. The 
amendments will allow the City to enact a transportation mobility fee to help create a more 
multimodal transportation system. The proposed mobility fee is based on the cost of the capacity 
improvements needed to address network deficiencies less capacity projects caused by external 
to external trips divided by the local person miles traveled within the City.  

There are two state roads that run through the City: US-17 and SR-16. There are two segments of 
SR-16 that are currently operating below the target Level of Service (LOS) standard from US-17 
to Slow Tide Road and from Red Cove Road to East City Limit (where there is also a proposed 
SIS facility adjacent to this segment). US-17 from SR-16 to N. City Limits is projected to 
operate below the target Level of Service (LOS) standard by 2030. Intersection enhancements, 
new trail connections, and transit improvements are included in the Mobility Fee Project list that 
can help alleviate the deficiencies on SR-16. FDOT acknowledges that the City will replace the 
LOS Standards with a new Mobility Fee system which will guide future investment priorities. 
FDOT recommends that the City of Green Cove Springs coordinate with FDOT when the 
Mobility Fee projects that could impact these or any other state facilities are ready for 
implementation.  

We appreciate the opportunity to review the proposed comprehensive plan amendment and request 
that a copy of the adopted amendment, along with the supporting data and analysis be transmitted 
within ten working days after the second public hearing for FDOT review. If you have any 

Page 33

Item #1.



 www.dot.state.fl.us 2
  

questions, please do not hesitate to contact me by email: brian.austin@dot.state.fl.us or call: (904) 
360-5664.  
 
Sincerely, 
 

 
 
Brian Austin 
Transportation Planner 
FDOT District Two 
 

Page 34

Item #1.



1

Michael P. Daniels

From: Plan_Review <Plan.Review@dep.state.fl.us>

Sent: Thursday, May 18, 2023 4:51 PM

To: Michael P. Daniels; DCPexternalagencycomments

Cc: Plan_Review

Subject: Green Cove Springs 23-01ESR Proposed

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. .  Do not click links or open attachments unless you 
recognize the sender and know the content is safe. 

To:  Michael Daniels, AICP, Planning and Zoning Director  
  
Re:  Green Cove Springs 23-01ESR – Expedited State Review of Proposed Comprehensive Plan Amendment 
 

The Office of Intergovernmental Programs of the Florida Department of Environmental Protection 
(Department) has reviewed the above-referenced amendment package under the provisions of Chapter 163, 
Florida Statutes. The Department conducted a detailed review that focused on potential adverse impacts to 
important state resources and facilities, specifically: air and water pollution; wetlands and other surface waters 
of the state; federal and state-owned lands and interest in lands, including state parks, greenways and trails, 
conservation easements; solid waste; and water and wastewater treatment. 
  
Based on our review of the submitted amendment package, the Department has found no provision that, if 
adopted, would result in adverse impacts to important state resources subject to the Department’s jurisdiction.  
  
Please submit all future amendments by email to Plan.Review@FloridaDEP.gov. If your submittal is too large 
to send via email or if you need other assistance, contact Lindsay Weaver at (850) 717-9037. 
  
  

 
  
  

  
  
  
  

To help 
protect your 
privacy, 
Microso ft 
Office 
prevented 
automatic  
download of 

this pictu re  
from the  
In ternet.
Dep 
Customer 
Survey
 

 
Links contained in this email have been replaced. If you click on a link in the email above, the link will be analyzed for 
known threats. If a known threat is found, you will not be able to proceed to the destination. If suspicious content is 
detected, you will see a warning.  

Page 35

Item #1.



REGIONAL MAP OF AMENDMENT LOCATION SITES 

 

Page 36

Item #1.



Local Govt. 
and Plan 

Amendment 

Number on 
Regional Map 

Proposed Adopted County 
Location 

Due Date to 
be Mailed to 

Local and 
State Govt. 

Local Govt. 
Item Number 

City of Green 
Cove Springs 

23-01ESR 
1 X  Clay 5-5-2023 

Green Cove 
Springs 

Comprehensive 
Plan Update 

• Type: Text  
 

• Issue: This amendment to the City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan includes updates to the Future 
Land Use Element, Transportation Element, and Capital Improvements Element. The purpose of the 
proposed update is to continue to manage the impacts of development by enacting a transportation mobility 
fee and moving to a more multimodal transportation system.  

 
• Background: Currently, the City manages transportation concurrency through traffic impact analyses. 

Development applicants generating more than 40 or more new peak-hour trips must complete a traffic study 
to determine the impact of their development on area roadways and identify improvements necessary to 
mitigate the impact. However, traffic studies, on average, take approximately six months to complete, which 
can slow the process of development approval and may prove to be a hindrance to medium-sized 
development. To continue to manage the impacts of development and move toward a more multi-modal 
transportation system, the City hired Gannet Fleming to conduct a transportation mobility study to define the 
need for additional transportation investment, specifically multimodal; document the standards of service and 
ration for additional capacity; and ensure that there is a rational nexus between the payees of the mobility fee 
and the beneficiaries. This would provide more fee predictability for development applicants and shorter 
application timelines without needing a traffic study. This amendment potentially could support the City in 
using funds collected to improve multimodal transportation capacity by improving walking and biking 
facilities as well as vehicular traffic. This amendment to the Comprehensive Plan addresses the policies 
regarding multimodal development and mobility fees to ensure that the subsequent mobility ordinance in the 
Land Development Regulations is compatible with the Comprehensive Plan Policies in the Future Land Use, 
Transportation, and Capital Improvements Elements.  
 

• Impacts: No impacts to Resources of Regional Significance or extra-jurisdictional impacts that would be 
inconsistent with the Comprehensive Plan of an affected local government were identified.  
 

• Recommended Intergovernmental Coordination: No intergovernmental coordination is recommended for 
this amendment.  
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 37

Item #1.



Local Govt. 
and Plan 

Amendment 

Number on 
Regional Map 

Proposed Adopted County 
Location 

Due Date to 
be Mailed to 

Local and 
State Govt. 

Local Govt. 
Item Number 

City of 
Jacksonville 
22-04ESR 

2  X Duval 5-5-2023 Ordinance 
2023-67-E 

• Type: Future Land Use  
 

• Issue: This amendment to the City of Jacksonville’s (COJ) Comprehensive Plan changed 6,174 acres of 
undeveloped land from Low-Density Residential (LDR) to Mixed Use (MU).  The LDR land use is subject 
to site-specific Future Land Use Element (FLUE) Policies 4.4.11 and 4.4.12, while the MU is subject to site-
specific FLUE Policy 4.3.22. Please refer to Maps 1-2 in the Appendix.  

 
• Background: The property is located in the Southeast Planning District between J. Turner Butler Boulevard, 

Interstate 295, and near the St. Johns County line. Most of the site is located within the Rural Development 
Area with portions along the western boundary being located in the Suburban Redevelopment Area.  
 
In 2020, approximately 5,300 acres of the property were amended from various agriculture land use categories 
to LDR. The FLUE Policies 4.4.11 and 4.4.12 required that the developer submit a conceptual master plan 
for review and approval by the COJ Planning Commission. The master plan was a long-range development 
plan that included elements like densities and intensities of residential and non-residential development which 
were similar to those in the MU land use category; the two land-use map amendments formed the basis for 
creating the current MU land use standards.  
 

 Based on this amendment from LDR to MU, FLUE Policy 4.3.22 was revised to increase single-family 
residential dwelling units from 5,889 to 6,103. Moreover, other revisions to the FLUE Policy included 
decreasing townhome residential dwelling units from 2,913 to 2,420; multi-family residential dwelling units 
from 2,938 to 2,052; and the gross square footage of commercial/office uses from 1,225,000 to 915,000.  

 
• Impacts: The subject site is accessible from Phillips Highway (a major arterial) and is a Transportation 

Resource of Regional Significance. A Daily Trip Generation Comparison between the previous and current 
Comprehensive Plan land uses and the potential transportation impacts on the roadway network were 
conducted by the City’s Transportation Planning Division. The previous land use resulted in 291,114 daily 
trips, and the current land use (amended to MU with a site-specific policy) is expected to result in 114,880 
daily trips. The difference in daily trips for the current land use (amended to MU with a site-specific policy) 
will result in no net increase in daily trips compared to the previous land use.  
 
Further, given the site is adjacent to the Pablo Creek Conservation Area, a Natural Resource of Regional 
Significance, the COJ’s Parks, Recreation, and Community Services Department provided the following 
comments: 
o Part of the management of the Preserve may include timber harvesting, prescribed burns for resource 

enhancement, and a reduction in wildfire impacts. Prescribed burning will create smoke, which may 
temporarily impact neighborhoods and surrounding areas. However, such efforts for the management of 
these lands for wildlife, resource protection, and recreation uses are necessary.  

Page 38

Item #1.



o The area is currently natural, so the planned development may have wetland, stormwater, and 
groundwater impacts in the Pablo Creek Watershed. The Department recommended that an 
environmental assessment be conducted to inventory listed or imperiled plant and animal species. If listed 
species are found, the Department recommended following a habitat conservation plan for protection or 
mitigation alternatives. The applicant submitted three Listed Wildlife and Habitat Assessment Reports 
on file with the City’s Planning and Development Department.  

o The Department also requested that at least a 50-foot natural, vegetated buffer be maintained along the 
development property’s boundary with the Preserve. The Conceptual Master Plan was submitted for 
review in the adoption phase on November 2, 2022, and depicts an interconnected network of greenways 
and conservation lands that define the edges of residential neighborhoods and provide wildlife habitat 
corridors.    

 
Based on the complete City’s staff report for the amendment (some of which are highlighted here), there were 
no identified adverse effects to Significant Regional Resources and Facilities for the NEFRC Strategic 
Regional Policy Plan. Further, NEFRC staff also do not find any impacts inconsistent with the comprehensive 
plans of other municipalities in the county or counties in the region.  
 

• Recommended Intergovernmental Coordination:  The NEFRC recommended that the COJ coordinate 
with the St. Johns County Planning Department given the proximity of the site to St. Johns County. The COJ 
provided information for the amendment on several occasions.  
 
Mailed notice of the proposed amendment and public hearing dates were provided to the St. Johns County 
Growth Management Department for review concurrent with the submittal of the amendment package to 
FDEO and the State Review Agencies. Moreover, the COJ emailed the St. Johns County Growth Management 
Department on August 2, 2022, in response to the NEFRC comments; and the department did not express any 
concerns. 

 
  

Page 39

Item #1.



Local Govt. 
and Plan 

Amendment 

Number on 
Regional Map 

Proposed Adopted County 
Location 

Due Date to 
be Mailed to 

Local and 
State Govt. 

Local Govt. 
Item Number 

City of 
Jacksonville 

23-1ESR 
3 X  Duval 5-5-2023 Ordinance 

2023-116-E 

• Type: Future Land Use Amendment  

• Issue: This amendment to the City of Jacksonville’s Comprehensive Plan changes the Future Land Use of 
127.95 acres located between Roosevelt Blvd. and Ortega Bluff Parkway from Light-Industrial (LI), Medium-
Density Residential (MDR), and Residential-Professional-Institutional (RPI) to just Medium-Density 
Residential (MDR) and Residential-Professional-Institutional (RPI) to allow for commercial and multi-family 
uses. Please refer to Maps 3-4 in the Appendix. 

• Background: The 127.95-acre subject site is located west of the railroad tracks along Roosevelt Boulevard, 
a major arterial road, with frontage along the north side of Collins Road, a collector road. The site is mostly 
undeveloped with two single-family residential units located along the Collins Road portion of the subject 
site. A companion rezoning application is not required for the transmittal round of legislation and will be 
processed during the adoption round of this amendment.  

• Impacts: The subject site is 127.95-acres and is accessible from Roosevelt Blvd (U.S. 17) and Collins Road, 
a major arterial and collector facility, and U.S. 17 are considered a Transportation Resource of Regional 
Significance.  A daily trip comparison between the current and proposed comprehensive plan land uses and 
the potential transportation impacts on the roadway network was conducted by the Transportation Planning 
Division. The current land use would result in 12,092 or 11,441 daily trips, depending on the scenario. If the 
land use is amended, this will result in 28,556 or 14,493 daily trips, depending on the scenario. The difference 
in daily trips for the proposed land use amendment will result in 16,464 or 3,082 net new daily trips when 
compared to the existing land use. The U.S. 17 is subject to the Florida Department of Transportation (FDOT) 
review and access management requirements. The Transportation Planning Division recommends ongoing 
coordinating efforts with the City of Jacksonville Traffic Engineer to determine if a traffic operational 
analysis is needed. The subject site is located within the 150-foot and 300-foot Height and Hazard Zones for 
the Jacksonville Naval Air Station, a Transportation Resource of Regional Significance. City zoning will 
limit development to a maximum height of less than 150 feet and 300 feet, respectively, unless approved by 
the Jacksonville Aviation Authority or the Federal Aviation Administration. No impacts to Resources of 
Regional Significance or extra-jurisdictional impacts that would be inconsistent with the Comprehensive Plan 
of an affected local government were identified.  

• Recommended Intergovernmental Coordination: The subject site is within proximity to the Town of 
Orange Park and Clay County. The NEFRC recommends that the City of Jacksonville coordinate with the 
Town of Orange Park’s Economic and Community Development Department and the Clay County Planning 
and Zoning Department in the adoption phase.  

 
  

Page 40

Item #1.



Local Govt. 
and Plan 

Amendment 

Number on 
Regional Map 

Proposed Adopted County 
Location 

Due Date to 
be Mailed to 

Local and 
State Govt. 

Local Govt. 
Item Number 

Nassau County 
23-2SP 4 X  Nassau 5-5-2023 CPA 22-012 

• Type: Future Land Use  

• Issue: This proposed amendment to the Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Map (FLUM) is comprised of 
45 parcels totaling almost 15,000 acres and occupies a strategically located area between US 17 and Chester 
Road, in the rapidly growing Yulee area. The property is currently designated on the FLUM as Multi-Use, 
which includes several customized future land use subcategories. The applicant is requesting a map change 
to the FLUM that adjusts the boundaries of the currently adopted land use subcategories and revises the East 
Nassau Community Planning Area (ENCPA) mobility network. Please refer to Maps 5-7 and Table 1 in the 
Appendix.  

• Background: This amendment is primarily concerned with the revision of the FLUM, specifically changes 
to the location and distribution of the land use subcategories. Accompanying revisions to the roadway 
network (Future Transportation Map Series/FTMS) are included with the companion amendment CPA22-
013. Map changes include revisions to the road system and adjustments to subcategory areas as shown in the 
Table included in the appendices. The proposed land use sub-category mix has increased the average 2.5 
dwelling units/acres suburban Residential Tier 2 subcategory by almost 25%, shifting most of those units 
from the rural Tier 3 subcategory. The remaining land use subcategories have been modified to better define 
boundaries in relation to the realigned road network. The County supports the final land use mix as a workable 
compromise that provides for market-driven suburban development while retaining the denser development 
in and around the Village Centers and in the resort. The Village Center, Resort, and Tier 1 still maintain an 
important 27% share of non-Conservation Habitat Network (CHN) acreage. The only other proposed change 
is a gain of over 200 acres into the CHN, which Staff also supports. This amendment has the following 
companion development application in CPA 22-013, which is an amendment to the Transportation Element 
and Future Transportation Map Series.  

• Impacts: No impacts to Resources of Regional Significance or extra-jurisdictional impacts that would be 
inconsistent with the Comprehensive Plan of an affected local government were identified.  

• Recommended Intergovernmental Coordination: No intergovernmental coordination is recommended for 
this amendment. 

 
  

Page 41

Item #1.



Local Govt. 
and Plan 

Amendment 

Number on 
Regional Map 

Proposed Adopted County 
Location 

Due Date to 
be Mailed to 

Local and 
State Govt. 

Local Govt. 
Item Number 

Nassau County 
23-3SP 5 X  Nassau 5-5-2023 CPA 22-013 

• Type: Text Amendment  

• Issue: This proposed amendment is an update to the Transportation Element to reflect project updates and 
changes made to the ENCPA Wildlight Mobility Network by Comprehensive Plan Amendment CPA 22-012. 
The approximate boundary includes the area north of Pages Dairy Road East, East of US 17, south of the St. 
Mary’s River, and west of Chester Road. Please refer to Maps 8-11 in the Appendix.  

• Backgrounds: As required by Florida Statute Chapter 163.3177(6)(b)1, Nassau County’s Comprehensive 
Plan Transportation Element addresses traffic circulation, including the types, locations, and extent of 
existing and proposed major thoroughfares and transportation routes, including bicycle and pedestrian ways. 
The element also includes maps showing the general location of the existing and proposed transportation 
system features and is coordinated with the plans and programs of any applicable metropolitan transportation 
planning organization (TPO), transportation authority, and the Department of Transportation adopted work 
program. The current Transportation Element and Transportation Element Future Transportation Map Series 
(FTMS) was amended in 2020 to be consistent with the North Florida TPO’s 2045 Long-Range 
Transportation Plan (LRTP) and serve as a basis for the update to the County’s adopted Mobility Plan and 
the ENCPA Sector Plan Mobility Network. The proposed amendment would update the Transportation 
Element to:  

1. Amend FTMS-5, Nassau County Needs Network 2045; FTMS-6, Nassau County Cost Feasible 
Network 2045; FTMS-7, Nassau County Bicycle Facilities; and FTMS-8, Nassau County Trail 
Facilities to reflect project updates and changes made to the ENCPA Wildlight mobility network by 
Comprehensive Plan Amendment CPA22-012. The approximate amendment boundary includes the 
area north of Pages Dairy Road, East of US 17, south of the St. Mary’s River, and west of Chester 
Road. 

2. Provide clarification and correct typographical errors. 

3. Recognize the purpose of the adopted fee-in-lieu program for sidewalks and trail construction. 

4. Amend policies to add Nassau Transit to the list of local and regional agencies that include a transit 
component. 

• Impacts: No impacts to Resources of Regional Significance or extra-jurisdictional impacts that would be 
inconsistent with the Comprehensive Plan of an affected local government were identified. 

Recommended Intergovernmental Coordination: No intergovernmental coordination is recommended 
for this amendment. 

 
 

 

 

Page 42

Item #1.



Local Govt. 
and Plan 

Amendment 

Number on 
Regional Map 

Proposed Adopted County 
Location 

Due Date to 
be Mailed to 

Local and 
State Govt. 

Local Govt. 
Item Number 

City of Palatka 
23-1ESR 6  X Putnam 5-5-2023 Ordinance 

2023-06 
• Type: Text Amendment 

• Issue: The City of Palatka, under Section 163.3187(1) adopted an amendment to the Capital Improvements 
Element of the City’s Comprehensive Plan.  

• Background: This amendment updated the City’s Capital Improvements Element to reflect changes to the 
City’s 2022 Five-Year Capital Improvements Plan (CIP). The new CIP includes capital improvements the 
City intends to fund, in whole or part, with development impact fees and other funds and for other purposes.  

• Impacts: No impacts to Resources of Regional Significance or extra-jurisdictional impacts that would be 
inconsistent with the Comprehensive Plan of an affected local government were identified.  

• Recommended Intergovernmental Coordination: No intergovernmental coordination is recommended for 
this amendment.  

 

Page 43

Item #1.



 

Appendix 

Map 1: City of Jacksonville 22-4ESR (Location Map) 

 

Page 44

Item #1.



Map 2: City of Jacksonville 22-4ESR (Existing and Proposed Future 
Land Use Map)  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 45

Item #1.



Map 3: The City of Jacksonville 23-1ESR (Location Map)  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 46

Item #1.



 

Map 4: The City of Jacksonville 23-1ESR(Existing and Proposed Future 
Land Use)  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 47

Item #1.



Map 5: Nassau County 23-2SP (Location Map) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 48

Item #1.



Map 6: Nassau County 23-6SP (Existing Future Land Use Map)  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 49

Item #1.



Map 7: Nassau County 23-2SP (Proposed Future Land Use Map)  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 50

Item #1.



Table 1: Nassau County 23-2SP (CPA 2022-12 Adopted and Proposed 
Land Use Subcategories)  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 51

Item #1.



Map 8: Nassau County 23-3SP (Nassau County Needs Network LRTP)  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 52

Item #1.



Map 9 Nassau County 23-3SP (Nassau County Cost Feasible Network  
LRTP) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 53

Item #1.



Map 10: Nassau County Bike Facilities  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 54

Item #1.



Map 11: Nassau County Trail Facilities  

 

 

Page 55

Item #1.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  Regular Session MEETING DATE: June 20, 2023 

FROM: L. J. Arnold III, City Attorney 

SUBJECT: Approve on second and final reading Ordinance O-18-2023 which amends the residential 

solid waste monthly rates for City provided services from $19.00 to $19.95 monthly and 

for governmental, industrial commercial and the like noncontainerized services from 

$25.75 to $27.04 effective October 1, 2023. Mike Null 
 

BACKGROUND 

The City has not increased solid waste rates in several years and needs additional funds to support its 

solid waste utility. The suggested rate changes are an increase of five (5) percent over current rates.  

FISCAL IMPACT 

The funds received by the City for this proposed increase will obviously reflect a five (5) percent 

increase. 

RECOMMENDATION 

Approve Ordinance No. O-18-2023 on second and final reading. 

   
 

Page 56

Item #2.



 

ORDINANCE NO. O-18-2023 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, 

FLORIDA INCREASING RESIDENTIAL GARBAGE AND TRASH 

COLLECTION RATE FROM $19.00 TO $19.95 MONTHLY; AMENDING 

CITY CODE SECTION 66-7 (1) RESIDENTIAL (COLLECTION RATES 

AND CHARGES); INCREASING NONCONTAINERIZED COMMERCIAL, 

INDUSTRIAL, GOVERNMENTAL AND THE LIKE FROM $25.75 TO 27.04 

MONTHLY; AMENDING CITY CODE SECTION 66-7(2); PROVIDING FOR 

CODIFICATION, REPEALER, SEVERABILITY AND SETTING AN 

EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council has determined that a $ .95 upward adjustment in 

monthly residential garbage and trash collection is necessary and reasonable to fund 

the solid waste utility; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council has determined that an upward adjustment from 25.75 

to 27.04 monthly for noncontainerized commercial, industrial, governmental and the 

like is reasonable and necessary to fund the solid waste utility. 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ENACTED by the City Council of the City of Green 

Cove Springs as follows: 

 

SECTION 1.  City Code Section 66-7 Collection rates and charges, Subsection 

(1), shall be amended to read as follows: 
 

(1) For residential, one garbage can (unless otherwise approved by the city) with two 

pickups per week for each family unit, residence or apartment and one yard waste, not to 

exceed 20 plastic bags plus a three-foot by three-foot by six- foot stack of tree limbs per 

pickup per week, monthly charge: $19.00 $19.95. 

 

SECTION 2.  Section 66-7(2) of the City Code is hereby amended to read as 

follows: 

 
(2) For noncontainerized commercial, industrial, governmental, and the like, up 

to two garbage cans, with two pickups per week as approved by the director of 

public works in section 66-2, monthly charge: $25.75 $27.04. 
 

SECTION 3.  CODIFICATION.  It is the intention of the City Council, and it is 

hereby ordained that the provisions of this ordinance shall become and be made part 

of the Code of the City of Green Cove Springs as amended; that the sections of this 

ordinance may be renumbered or relettered to accomplish such intention; and that the 

word “ordinance” may be changed to “section” or other appropriate word. 

Page 57

Item #2.

https://library.municode.com/fl/green_cove_springs/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=SPAGEOR_CH66SOWA_S66-2CORE


Ordinance No. O-18-2023 

Page 2 of 2 

SECTION 4.  REPEALER.  Any Ordinances or parts thereof in conflict with the 

provisions of this Ordinance are hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 

 

SECTION 5.  SEVERABILITY.  The various parts, sections and clauses of this 

Ordinance are hereby declared severable. If any part, sentence, paragraph, section or 

clause is adjudged unconstitutional or invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, the 

remainder of the Ordinance shall not be affected thereby. 

 

SECTION 6.  EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Ordinance shall become effective 

October 1, 2023. 

 
INTRODUCED AND APPROVED AS TO FORM ONLY ON THE FIRST 

READING BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA, 

ON THIS 6THh DAY OF JUNE, 2023. 
 

CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 

 

 Constance W. Butler, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

 

Erin West, City Clerk 

 

 

PASSED ON SECOND AND FINAL READING BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF 

GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA, THIS 20TH DAY OF JUNE, 2023. 

 

CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 

 

 Constance W. Butler, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

 

Erin West, City Clerk 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

L. J. Arnold, III, City Attorney 

Page 58

Item #2.



                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  

 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  Regular Session MEETING DATE: June 20, 2023 

FROM: L. J. Arnold III, City Attorney 

SUBJECT: Approve on second and final reading City Ordinance No. O-19-2023 which increases the 

base charge and usage charge for the City stormwater utility. Mike Null 
 

BACKGROUND 

The City created a stormwater utility in 2012 with a base charge per tax parcel. Then a usage charge was 

added based upon a formula set forth in 2020 per Ordinance No. O-01-2020. The City needs to increase 

the base charge and usage charge to reduce the shortfall in revenues it receives to operate this utility. As 

a result of information provided by city staff at the special city council session on May 16, 2023 and 

additional discussion at the June 6, 2023 first reading, the increase to the base charge will be from $3.50 

to $6.00 and the usage charge will increase from $10.42 to $25.00 monthly per ESU. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

The City will receive an increase in revenues from the base charge and user fees. 

RECOMMENDATION 

Approve Ordinance No. O-19-2023 on second and final reading.  
 

Page 59

Item #3.



ORDINANCE NO. O -19- 2023 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, 

FLORIDA INCREASING THE BASE CHARGE RATE FOR THE 

STORMWATER UTILITY FROM $3.50 TO $6.00 MONTHLY PER PARCEL 

AND THE USAGE CHARGE FROM $10.42 TO NOT TO EXCEED $25.00 

MONTHLY PER ESU; AMENDING CITY CODE SECTION 70-7 (C) AND 

SECTION 70-8(C); PROVIDING FOR CODIFICATION, REPEALER, 

SEVERABILITY AND SETTING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council has determined that an increase in the base charge and 

usage charge for the stormwater utility is reasonable and necessary to protect the 

health, safety and welfare of the general public, and to offset the reasonable costs 

associated with the operation and maintenance of its stormwater utility system. 

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ENACTED by the City Council of the City of Green 

Cove Springs as follows: 
 

SECTION 1.  City Code Section 70-7 Base Charge, Subsection (c), shall be 

amended to read as follows: 

 

(c) For government property within the incorporated area of the city, the monthly 

base charge shall be $3.50 $6.00 for each tax parcel of developed property and 

undeveloped property. The city manager or his or her designee will prepare a list 

of all tax parcels within the city. The monthly base charge may be amended from 

time to time by ordinance. 

 

SECTION 2.  The base charge for all non-governmental property shall be amended 

as provided in Article VII, Chapter 78 of the City Code. 

 

SECTION 3.  Section 70-8 Usage Charge, Subsection (c) of the City Code shall be 

amended to read as follows: 

 

(c) Effective on October 1, 2020 and thereafter, for government property within 

the incorporated area of the city, the monthly usage charge shall be $10.42 

$25.00 monthly per ESU. The city manager or his or her designee will prepare a 

list of all tax parcels within the city. The monthly usage charge may be amended 

from time to time by ordinance. 

 

SECTION 4.  The usage charge for all non-governmental property shall be amended 

as provided in Article VII, Chapter 78 of the City Code. 

 

SECTION 5.  CODIFICATION. It is the intention of the City Council, and it is 

hereby ordained that the provisions of this ordinance shall become and be made part 

of the Code of the City of Green Cove Springs as amended; that the sections of this 

ordinance may be renumbered or relettered to accomplish such intention; and that the 

word “ordinance” may be changed to “section” or other appropriate word. 

Page 60

Item #3.



Ordinance No. O-19-2023 

Page 2 of 2 

 

SECTION 6.  REPEALER.  Any Ordinances or parts thereof in conflict with the 

provisions of this Ordinance are hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 

 

SECTION 7.  SEVERABILITY.  The various parts, sections and clauses of this 

Ordinance are hereby declared severable. If any part, sentence, paragraph, section or 

clause is adjudged unconstitutional or invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, 

the remainder of the Ordinance shall not be affected thereby. 

 

SECTION 8.  EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Ordinance shall become effective 

October 1, 2023. 

 
INTRODUCED AND APPROVED AS TO FORM ONLY ON THE FIRST 

READING BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, 

FLORIDA, ON THIS 6TH DAY OF JUNE, 2023. 

 

CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 
 

 

 Constance W. Butler, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 

 

Erin West, City Clerk 

 

 

PASSED ON SECOND AND FINAL READING BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF GREEN 

COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA, THIS 20TH DAY OF JUNE, 2023. 

 
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 

 

 Constance W. Butler, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 

 

Erin West, City Clerk 
 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 

 

L. J. Arnold, III, City Attorney 

Page 61

Item #3.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA  

TO:  City Council MEETING DATE: June 20, 2023 

FROM: Michael Daniels, Planning and Zoning Director 

SUBJECT: Second and final reading of Ordinance O-17-2023 for parcel # 016450-001-01 for 

approximately 1.33 acres located on the northwest corner of US Highway 17 and SR 16 

requesting a  

Zoning Amendment                                       From:   Residential High Density, R-3 

                                                                       To:       C-2, General Commercial  

 
 

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 

APPLICANT: Kimley-Horn and Assoc. Inc. OWNER: Brightwork Real Estate 

PROPERTY LOCATION: Northwest corner of US Highway 17 and SR 16 

PARCEL NUMBER: Parcel #016450-001-01 

FILE NUMBER: ZON-23-004 

CURRENT ZONING:  Residential High Density, R-3, Commercial & C-2 General Commercial 

FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION: Mixed Use 

SURROUNDING LAND USE 

NORTH: FLU: Mixed Use 

Z: Recreation and Conservation (RC) 

Use: Undeveloped  

SOUTH: FLU: Industrial 

Z: C-2 General Commercial   

Use: Shopping Center 

EAST: FLU: Mixed Use, Public 

Z: C-2 General Commercial, RC 

Use: Convenience Store/Gas 

Station/Undeveloped 

WEST: FLU: Industrial (County)  

Z: C-2 General Commercial  

Use: Undeveloped 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 62

Item #4.



 

BACKGROUND 

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION: 

The applicant, Mark Shelton, with Kimley-Horn and Assoc, has submitted a rezoning request for 1.33 acres 

to rezone a portion of the subject property from R-3, High Density Residential to C-2, General Business.  

The property is north of the Cove Shopping Center and west of the Speedway Service Station.  The remaining 

adjacent properties are undeveloped. as shown on the description sketch, the western 20 feet of the property 

includes an easement to the City as set forth in 1983 (Ordinance O-6-83).  The intent behind the easement 

was initially for City utility maintenance.  The property is located within the AE FEMA Flood zone and is 

within a Freshwater Forested Shrub wetland.    

 

 

 

The site is located within the City’s Water, and Sewer Service Boundaries. It will be served by the City’s 

utilities and sanitation services.    

 

 

 

 

Page 63

Item #4.



 

PUBLIC FACILITIES IMPACT  

Traffic Impacts 

Land Use1 Square 
Footage
/Dwellin

g  
Units 

Daily PM Peak 

(ITE) Rate Trips Rate Trips 

Proposed C-2 Commercial 
Shopping Center* 

14,484 42.94 621 3.37 49 

Multifamily Residential*** 27 6.65 178 .62 16 

1. Source: Institute of Transportation Engineers: Trip Generation Manual 8th Edition 
*based on the historical average FAR of .25 for a shopping center use. 

 

Conclusion: There are no development plans at this time as a result, the traffic impacts were calculated  

based on the assumption of a Shopping Center at a historical average FAR of .25 for a shopping center and 

a separate calculation was made based on a maximum of 20*** units per acre for residential development.  

The projected trips for a convenience store/gas station is 163 daily trips and 13 peak hour trips per fueling 

position.  The proposed mobility fee at this time for a retail plaza under 40,000 square feet is $15,895 per 

1,000 square feet of retail area which would be payable at time of development.   

 

 

Potable Water Impacts 

 

Proposed Commercial C-2 Zoning 

System Category Gallons Per Day (GPD) 

Current Permitted Capacity1 4,200,000 

Less actual Potable Water Flows1 1,013,000 

Residual Capacity1 3,187,000 

Projected Potable Water Demand from Proposed Project2                              1, 533 

Residual Capacity after Proposed Project 3,185,467 

1. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Public Works Department 
2. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan. Formula Used: .11 x sq ft (based on historical data compiled pursuant 

to existing City shopping center consumption for an FAR of 0.25) 
 

 

Existing Residential R-3 Zoning 

System Category Gallons Per Day (GPD) 

Current Permitted Capacity1 4,200,000 

Less actual Potable Water Flows1 1,013,000 

Residual Capacity1 3,187,000 

Projected Potable Water Demand from Proposed Project2                      10,732 

Residual Capacity after Proposed Project 3,176,268 
1. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Public Works Department 
2. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan. Formula Used: 27 dwelling units x 2.65 persons per du x 150 gal per 

person  

Page 64

Item #4.



 
 
Conclusion: The impact was calculated based on potential commercial or residential uses.  As shown in the table 

above, there is adequate capacity for either use type.  However, a zoning change to Commercial will result in less 

impact to the water system.  The City has existing water lines installed at this location.     

 

 
Sanitary Sewer Impacts – South Plant WWTP 
Proposed Commercial C-2 

System Category Gallons Per Day (GPD) 

Current Permitted Capacity1 350,000 

Current Loading1 251,000 

Committed Loading 1 65,000 

Projected Sewer Demand from Proposed Project2    1,533 

Residual Capacity after Proposed Project 32,467 
1. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Public Works Department 
2. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan. Formula Used: .11 x sq ft (based on historical data compiled pursuant to 

existing City shopping center consumption for an FAR of .25) 

 
Residential 

System Category Gallons Per Day (GPD) 

Current Permitted Capacity1 350,000 

Current Loading1 251,000 

Committed Loading 1 65,000 

Projected Sewer Demand from Proposed Project2 8,586 

Residual Capacity after Proposed Project 25,414 
1. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Public Works Department 
2. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan. Formula Used: 27 dwelling units x 2.65 persons per du x 120 gal per 

person 

 
Conclusion: The impact was calculated based on potential commercial or residential uses.  The project site is served 

by the South Plant Wastewater Treatment Plant (WWTP).  There is adequate capacity for either use, however, 

rezoning the property from Residential High Density to Commercial, C-2 will result in a potential decrease in impact 

to the Sewer system capacity.  The City has existing sewer lines at this location.   

 

Solid Waste Impacts 

 

Proposed Commercial C-2 Zoning  

System Category LBs Per Day / Tons per Year 

Solid Waste Generated by Proposed Project1 None 

Solid Waste Facility Capacity2 Minimum 3 Years Capacity 
1. Source: City of Green Cove Springs does not provide commercial sanitation services, prospective sanitation collection franchisees 

shall comply with City Code Section 66-10. 
 

 

Existing Residential, R-3 Residential Multifamily  

System Category LBs Per Day / Tons per Year 

Solid Waste Generated by Proposed Project1 572/104 

Solid Waste Facility Capacity2 Minimum 3 Years Capacity 
1. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan. Formula Used: (27 dwelling units x 2.65 persons per dwelling unit x 8 lbs. 

per day) x 365 

Page 65

Item #4.



 
Conclusion: The Zoning change will result in less impact to the City as a result of the fact that the City does not 
provide commercial sanitation services.   

 
 

Compatibility 

The Subject Property is located adjacent to predominantly commercial uses to the south and east and 

undeveloped property to the north and west.  The easement on the western portion of the property is not 

needed for the City’s utility maintenance but will be required to be constructed as the continuation of the 

Palmetto trail project from the northern edge of the property to Green Cove Avenue as part of the Site 

Development process.  Due to the existence of wetlands on the property, a wetland delineation map shall 

be required to ensure that any existing wetlands are preserved.  Because the property is located within the 

AE FEMA floodzone, they will be required to comply with all requirements of the City’s floodzone 

ordinance as well as applicable requirements from State and Federal Agencies.   

 

The C-2 General Business Zoning district is a commercial zoning district which is intended for intensive 

uses that generate high traffic volumes.  The subject property is located on US 17 which is a 4-lane principal 

arterial roadway and has a Future Land Use Designation of Mixed Use which is compatible with the C-2 

Zoning District.   

 

Intent of Existing Zoning District 

Heavy Industrial (County) 

All land designated as Zone IB is subject to the regulations of this Section and Sec. 20.3-10. Such areas are 

established in order to provide adequate areas for activities of a heavy industrial nature. A site plan 

conforming to the requirements of this chapter shall be submitted to the Planning and Zoning Department 

for administrative review and approval prior to obtaining a building permit for all uses within this District.  

 

Intent of Proposed Zoning District 

The commercial high intensity (CHI), C-2 general commercial zoning category district is intended for 

intensive commercial uses which generally require a conspicuous and accessible location convenient to 

streets carrying large volumes of traffic. 

 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends approval of the rezoning request to C-2, General Business. 

 

RECOMMENDED MOTIONS: 

Rezoning 

Motion to recommend approval of second and final reading of Ordinance O-17-2023 to amend the zoning 

of the property described therein from Residential High Density, R-3 to C-2, General Commercial.  
 

 

Page 66

Item #4.



 Green Cove Springs C-Store 
Rezoning Application 

kimley-horn.com 12740 Gran Bay Parkway West, Suite 2350, Jacksonville, Florida 32258 904 828 3900 

 

 
 
 

GREEN COVE SPRINGS C-STORE 
REZONING APPLICATION  

 
 
Exhibit A   Application  
 
Attachment 1  Statement of Proposed Change 
 
Attachment 1A  Current Zoning Map 
 
Attachment 1B  Proposed Zoning Map 
 
Attachment 2  Aerial Map 
 
Attachment 3  Plat of the property  
 
Attachment 4  Legal Description 
 
Attachment 5  Survey 
 
Attachment 6  Proof of Ownership 
 
 

 
 

  

Page 67

Item #4.



 Green Cove Springs C-Store 
Rezoning Application 

kimley-horn.com 12740 Gran Bay Parkway West, Suite 2350, Jacksonville, Florida 32258 904 828 3900 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
EXHIBIT A 

 
APPLICATION 

  

Page 68

Item #4.



  

 

Rezoning Application  
A. PROJECT  

1. Project Name: _________________________________________________________________________ 
 
2. Address of Subject Property:______________________________________________________________ 
 
3. Parcel ID Number(s): ____________________________________________________________________ 

 
4. Existing Use of Property: _________________________________________________________________ 
 
5. Future Land Use Map Designation : ________________________________________________________ 

 
6. Existing Zoning Designation: ______________________________________________________________ 
 
7. Proposed Zoning Designation: ____________________________________________________________ 

 

8. Acreage: _____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
B. APPLICANT  

1. Applicant’s Status                Owner (title holder)                Agent 
 

2. Name of Applicant(s) or Contact Person(s):________________________________ Title:______________ 
 

Company (if applicable):__________________________________________________________________ 
 
Mailing address:________________________________________________________________________ 

 
City: _________________________ State:___________________________ ZIP:____________________ 
 

Telephone: (   )_________________ FAX: (   )_______________ e-mail:_________________________  

 

3. If the applicant is agent for the property owner* 

Name of Owner (titleholder):):_____________________________________________________________ 
 
Mailing address:________________________________________________________________________ 

 
City: _________________________ State:___________________________ ZIP:____________________ 
 

Telephone: (   )_________________ FAX: (   )_______________ e-mail:_________________________ 
 

* Must provide executed Property Owner Affidavit authorizing the agent to act on behalf of the property owner.  

C. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION  

1. Is there any additional contact for sale of, or options to purchase, the subject property?  

Yes No If yes, list names of all parties involved:  

If yes, is the contract/option contingent or absolute?  
Contingent  Absolute  

   

 
 FOR OFFICE USE ONLY

P Z File #  ____________   

Application Fee:     

Filing Date:    Acceptance Date:   

Review Date:  SRDT_______ P & Z _______ CC __________   

33609

38-06-26-016450-001-01

mark.shelton@kimley-horn.com

C2
1.33 +/-

Tampa Florida

Mixed-Use

Jacksonville

Green Cove Springs C-Store

3708 West Swann Ave., Ste. 200

Mark Shelton, AICP

32258

R3

12740 Gran Bay Parkway West, Ste. 2350
Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.

Vacant

Intersection of S US Hwy 17 & Cooks Lane, Green Cove Springs, FL 32043

Florida

Brightwork Real Estate, Inc.

Page 69

Item #4.

Brennan, Sophie
Check

Brennan, Sophie
Typewriter
904  828 3900

Brennan, Sophie
Check



Page 70

Item #4.



Page 71

Item #4.



Page 72

Item #4.



Page 73

Item #4.



 Green Cove Springs C-Store 
Rezoning Application 

kimley-horn.com 12740 Gran Bay Parkway West, Suite 2350, Jacksonville, Florida 32258 904 828 3900 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT 1 
 

STATEMENT OF  
PROPOSED CHANGE 

  

Page 74

Item #4.



 Green Cove Springs C-Store 

Rezoning Application 

 

kimley-horn.com 12740 Gran Bay Parkway West, Suite 2350, Jacksonville, Florida 32258 904 828 3900 

 

Statement of Proposed Change 

This application requests the rezoning of a 1.33 acres (Parcel ID 38-06-26-016450-001-01) 

located at the intersection of US Hwy 17 and Cooks Lane (US Hwy 16) in Green Cove Springs, 

FL 32043. This rezoning application is required to rezone the subject Parcel from Residential High 

Density (R-3) to Commercial High Intensive (C-2) general commercial.  

The subject parcel contains two separate zoning districts.  A portion of this parcel is zoned C-2 

and the other portion is zoned R-3.  The portion that is C-2 is not large enough to be split off and 

developed into a parcel on its own.  In addition, the R-3 portion is not large enough to support a 

high-density residential use such as multi-family apartments, therefore continuing with these two 

separate zoning districts is not practical or feasible. Also, The R-3 zoning district is incompatible 

with the location.  It is common planning practice for parcels located at the intersection of two 

state roads (major collectors) to be zoned for commercial use. The requested rezoning will 

combine the two separate zoning districts into one commercial zoning district for the entire parcel.  

This rezoning will not have a negative impact on the adjacent property owners as the majority of 

the surrounding property to the northwest is zoned for recreation.   

It is the intent of the applicant to impact the least amount of wetlands on site as possible.  The 

Applicant is also working with FDOT to ensure that the least amount of wetlands are impacted for 

the driveway access along SR17.  The Applicant has also agreed to allow the proposed bike trail 

to the north to continue through the subject parcel down to Cooks Lane for future improvements. 

The requested rezoning meets the following City of Green Cove Springs 2045 Comprehensive 

Plan objectives and policies: 

Objective 1.1. Future Land Use Map. New development and redevelopment activities shall be 

directed in appropriate areas of the City as depicted on the Future Land Use Map (FLUM). 

The proposed rezoning is at the intersection of US 16 and US 17, a prime location for 

commercial uses. Currently the property is vacant and has a future land use designation of 

mixed-use. This rezoning request is appropriate for the subject location. 

Future Land Use Policy 1.1.1. The following Future Land Use categories (FLUC), along with 

their intended uses, densities, and intensities, are established as follows (FAR only applies to 

non-residential uses): 

Mixed Use (MU): This FLUC encompasses lands along major transportation corridors 

and is intended to accommodate primarily nonresidential uses including light and heavy 

commercial uses, lodging, and professional offices, interspersed with medium density 

residential uses and public/semi-public facilities. 

The subject parcel has a future land use designation of mixed-use and is located at a state road 

intersection. Therefore, the C-2 zoning designation is a more appropriate zoning designation for 

the mixed-use FLUC that is intended for non-residential uses. As such, the proposed rezoning 

meets the intent of this comprehensive plan policy. 

Future Land Use Objective 1.2. Sustainability. The City shall strive to cultivate a sustainable 

land use pattern by preventing the proliferation of urban sprawl, ensuring the efficient provision 

of services, and implementing smart growth principles.  

Page 75

Item #4.



 Green Cove Springs C-Store 

Rezoning Application 

 

kimley-horn.com 12740 Gran Bay Parkway West, Suite 2350, Jacksonville, Florida 32258 904 828 3900 

 

The proposed rezoning implements smart growth principles by requesting commercial zoning 

along a state road intersection. Therefore, the proposed rezoning is currently serviced by 

existing infrastructure and services and fulfills this comprehensive plan objective. Further, the 

proposed zoning is compatible with the surrounding uses, appropriate in this location, and is 

infill development in a location serviced by existing infrastructure.  

Future Land Use Policy 1.3.2. The City shall establish locational criteria in the LDC for future 

rezoning of sites to higher density and/or intensity districts. The following principles shall be 

considered:  

a. Compatibility means that different land uses can coexist in relative proximity to each 

other provided that a use is not impacted directly or indirectly by another use.  

The requested rezoning is compatible with the proposed location as it is located at 

the intersection of US-16 and US-17, and there is an existing Speedway gas station 

directly across US-17. Additionally, the adjacent property to the northwest is zoned 

for recreation. 

b. Increases in density and intensity must generally occur in a gradual fashion, avoiding 

abrupt transitions.  

The proposed rezoning fronts the intersection of two state roads and therefore is an 

appropriate location for the intensity of commercial high intensive (C-2) general 

commercial zoning. This zoning designation is intended to front high volume roads 

such as US-16 and US-17. Additionally, part of the subject parcel is already zoned 

C-2, and this application is requesting to bring the entire parcel into the C-2 zoning 

district.   

c. High density residential uses should generally be located in areas that have 

adequate vehicular access and proximity to service uses.  

The requested rezoning is not for high density residential use.  

d. Spot zoning should be avoided. Spot zoning refers to changing the zoning 

designation of a small parcel of land for a designation totally different from that of the 

surrounding area for the benefit of the owner of such property and to the detriment of 

other owners. 

The requested rezoning would bring the entire parcel (Parcel ID 38-06-26-016450-

001-01) into the C-2 zoning district, therefore remedying the inconsistent parcel 

zoning.  

Page 76

Item #4.



 Green Cove Springs C-Store 
Rezoning Application 

kimley-horn.com 12740 Gran Bay Parkway West, Suite 2350, Jacksonville, Florida 32258 904 828 3900 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT 1A 
 

CURRENT ZONING MAP 
  

Page 77

Item #4.



GREEN COVE SPRINGS C-STORE Legend
Project Site

NCURRENT ZONING MAP

US16

US17

COOKS LANE

Page 78

Item #4.



 Green Cove Springs C-Store 
Rezoning Application 

kimley-horn.com 12740 Gran Bay Parkway West, Suite 2350, Jacksonville, Florida 32258 904 828 3900 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT 1B 
 

PROPOSED ZONING MAP 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

Page 79

Item #4.



GREEN COVE SPRINGS C-STORE Legend
Project Site

NPROPOSED ZONING MAP

US16

US17

COOKS LANE

Page 80

Item #4.



 Green Cove Springs C-Store 
Rezoning Application 

kimley-horn.com 12740 Gran Bay Parkway West, Suite 2350, Jacksonville, Florida 32258 904 828 3900 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

ATTACHMENT 2 
 

AERIAL MAP 
  

Page 81

Item #4.



GREEN COVE SPRINGS C-STORE Legend
Project Site

NAERIAL MAP

US16

US17

COOKS LANE

Page 82

Item #4.



 Green Cove Springs C-Store 
Rezoning Application 

kimley-horn.com 12740 Gran Bay Parkway West, Suite 2350, Jacksonville, Florida 32258 904 828 3900 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

ATTACHMENT 3 
 

PLAT OF THE  
PROPERTY 

  

Page 83

Item #4.



GREEN COVE SPRINGS C-STORE Legend
Project Site

NPROPERTY APPRAISER’S PLAT MAP
Page 84

Item #4.



 Green Cove Springs C-Store 
Rezoning Application 

kimley-horn.com 12740 Gran Bay Parkway West, Suite 2350, Jacksonville, Florida 32258 904 828 3900 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

ATTACHMENT 4 
 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
  

Page 85

Item #4.



of     01 02FILE PATH: BISHOPPORPERTY-REZONINGPARCEL-SOD.DWG      LAST SAVED BY: MATTCHEPOLIS

BRIGHTWORK REAL ESTATE
JDF03/27/2023MRC

Description Sketch
(Not A Survey)

GeoPoint
Surveying, Inc.

Licensed Business No.: LB 7768
www.geopointsurvey.com

528 Northlake Blvd, Suite 1040
Altamonte Springs, Florida 32701

 Phone: (321) 270-0440

Central Florida

Judd French LS7095

REZONING PARCEL

A parcel of land lying in Section 38, Township 6 South, Range 26, Clay County, Florida, and being more particularly
described as follows:

COMMENCE at the Intersection of the Northwesterly Right-of-way line of State Road 16 and the Southwesterly
Right-of-way line of State Road 15 (U.S. Highway 17); thence run N 15°56'32" W along said Southwesterly Right-of-way
line of State Road 15, a distance of 143.24 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING; thence departing said Southwesterly
Right-of-way line, run S 73°50'33" W, a distance of 235.08 feet; thence N 14°29'51" W, a distance of 89.83 feet; thence N
14°29'51" W, a distance of 121.79 feet; thence N 66°12'16" E, a distance of 30.36 feet; thence N 66°10'11" E, a distance
of 169.13 feet; thence N 74°43'31" E, a distance of 0.17 feet; thence N 66°15'51" E, a distance of 54.35 feet; thence S
15°46'46" E, a distance of 148.15 feet; thence S 15°46'37" E, a distance of 97.18 feet; thence S 73°50'33" W, a distance
of 21.18 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING.

Containing 1.331 acres, more or less.

NOTES:
1) The bearings shown hereon are based on the Southwesterly Right-of-way line of State Road 15 (U.S. 17), having a
Grid bearing of N 15°56'32" W. The Grid bearings shown hereon refer to the State Plane Coordinate System, North
American Datum of 1983 (NAD 83-2007 Adjustment) for the East Zone of Florida.

SEE SHEET 1 FOR DESCRIPTION
SEE SHEET 2 FOR SKETCH

BISHOP PROPERTY - REZONING
PARCEL

Page 86

Item #4.



 Green Cove Springs C-Store 
Rezoning Application 

kimley-horn.com 12740 Gran Bay Parkway West, Suite 2350, Jacksonville, Florida 32258 904 828 3900 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

ATTACHMENT 5 
 

SURVEY 
  

Page 87

Item #4.



POINT OF
COMMENCEMENT

ST
A

T
E

 R
O

A
D

 15

REZONING PARCEL

STATE ROAD 16

POINT OF
BEGINNING

Line Data Table

No. Bearing Length

of     02 02FILE PATH: BISHOPPORPERTY-REZONINGPARCEL-SOD.DWG      LAST SAVED BY: MATTCHEPOLIS

Description Sketch
(Not A Survey)

See Sheet 1 for Signature & Revisions

N
O

R
T

H

0

1" = 60'

6030

GeoPoint
Surveying, Inc.

Licensed Business No.: LB 7768
www.geopointsurvey.com

528 Northlake Blvd, Suite 1040
Altamonte Springs, Florida 32701

 Phone: (321) 270-0440

Central Florida

NOTE:
SEE SHEET 1 FOR DESCRIPTION
SEE SHEET 2 FOR SKETCH

Page 88

Item #4.



 Green Cove Springs C-Store 
Rezoning Application 

kimley-horn.com 12740 Gran Bay Parkway West, Suite 2350, Jacksonville, Florida 32258 904 828 3900 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

ATTACHMENT 6 
 

PROOF OF OWNERSHIP 
 
 
 
 

Page 89

Item #4.



Page 90

Item #4.



Page 91

Item #4.



Page 92

Item #4.



Page 93

Item #4.



Page 94

Item #4.



Page 95

Item #4.



Page 96

Item #4.



Page 97

Item #4.



Page 98

Item #4.



Page 99

Item #4.



 Green Cove Springs C-Store 
Rezoning Application 

kimley-horn.com 12740 Gran Bay Parkway West, Suite 2350, Jacksonville, Florida 32258 904 828 3900 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

ATTACHMENT 5 
 

SURVEY 
  

Page 100

Item #4.



ORDINANCE NO. O-17-2023 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF GREEN COVE 

SPRINGS, FLORIDA REZONING ±1.33 ACRES OF PROPERTY 

LOCATED AT US HIGHWAY 17 & COOKS LANE, IDENTIFIED AS 

TAX ID NUMBER 016450-001-01, MORE PARTICULARLY 

DESCRIBED BY EXHIBIT “A”, FROM RESIDENTIAL HIGH 

DENSITY, R-3 TO COMMERCIAL HIGH INTENSIVE LAND USE, C-

2 GENERAL COMMERCIAL ZONING; PROVIDING FOR 

REPEALER, SEVERABILITY AND SETTING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

RECITALS 

 

WHEREAS, the City has received a request to rezone the subject parcel from 

Residential High Density (R-3) to Commercial High Intensive Land Use, C-2 General 

Commercial; and 

WHEREAS, the proposed C-2, General Commercial Rezoning request is compatible with 

the existing Future Land Use Designation of Mixed Use, and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City has the authority pursuant to its home rule and other statutory 

powers to rezone properties within the City; and  

 

WHEREAS, a duly advertised public hearing was conducted on the proposed rezoning on 

May 23, 2023 by the Planning and Zoning Board, sitting as the Local Planning Agency (LPA) and 

the LPA reviewed and considered comments received during the public hearing concerning the 

application and made its recommendation for approval to the City Council; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council considered the recommendations of the LPA at a duly 

advertised public hearing on June 6 and June 20, 2023 and provided for and received public 

participation; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council has determined and found said application for the 

amendment, to be consistent with the City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan and Land 

Development Regulations; and, 

 

WHEREAS, for reasons set forth in this Ordinance that is hereby adopted and incorporated 

as findings of fact, that the Green Cove Springs City Council finds and declares that the enactment 

of this amendment is in the furtherance of the public health, safety, morals, order, comfort, 

convenience, appearance, prosperity, or general welfare. 

 

Page 101

Item #4.



Ordinance No. O-17-2023 

 

Page 2 of 3 

 

 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT ENACTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF GREEN 

COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA AS FOLLOWS: 

 

Section 1. Zoning Map Amended. The Zoning Map is hereby amended for the 

following property from Residential High Density (R-3) to Commercial High Intensive Land 

Use, C-2 General Commercial.  

Tax Parcel Number 38-06-26-016450-001-01 in accordance with the legal description 

found in Exhibit “A” and map found in Exhibit “B” attached hereto. 

 

 Section 2. Ordinance to be Construed Liberally.  This ordinance shall be liberally 

construed in order to effectively carry out the purposes hereof which are deemed to be in the best 

interest of the public health, safety and welfare of the citizens and residents of Green Cove Springs, 

Florida. 

 

 Section 3. Repealing Clause.  All ordinance or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith 

are, to the extent of the conflict, hereby repealed. 

 

 Section 4. Severability.  It is the declared intent of the City Council of the City of 

Green Cove Springs that, if any section, sentence, clause, phrase, or provision of this ordinance is 

for any reason held or declared to be unconstitutional, void, or inoperative by any court or agency 

of competent jurisdiction, such holding of invalidity or unconstitutionality shall not affect the 

remaining provisions of this ordinance, and the remainder of the ordinance after the exclusions of 

such part or parts shall be deemed to be valid. 

 

 Section 5. Effective Date.  The effective date of this plan amendment, if the 

amendment is not timely challenged, shall be 31 days after the state land planning agency notifies 

the City that the plan amendment package is complete in accordance with Chapter 163.3184 F.S. 

If timely challenged, this amendment shall become effective on the date the state land planning 

agency, or the Administrative Council enters a final order determining this adopted amendment to 

be in compliance in accordance with Chapter 163.3184 F.S. No development orders, development 

permits, or land uses dependent on this amendment may be issued or commenced before this plan 

amendment has become effective. 

 

  

Page 102

Item #4.



Ordinance No. O-17-2023 

 

Page 3 of 3 

 

 

 INTRODUCED AND APPROVED AS TO FORM ONLY ON THE FIRST 

READING BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, 

FLORIDA, ON THIS 6th DAY OF JUNE 2023. 

 

      CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 

 

 

              

      Constance W. Butler, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

       

Erin West, City Clerk 

 

 PASSED ON SECOND AND FINAL READING BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA, THIS 20TH DAY OF JUNE 2023. 

 

      CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 

 

 

              

      Constance W. Butler, Mayor  

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

       

Erin West, City Clerk 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

 

       

L. J. Arnold, III, City Attorney 

Page 103

Item #4.



of     01 02FILE PATH: BISHOPPORPERTY-REZONINGPARCEL-SOD.DWG      LAST SAVED BY: MATTCHEPOLIS

BRIGHTWORK REAL ESTATE
JDF03/27/2023MRC

Description Sketch
(Not A Survey)

GeoPoint
Surveying, Inc.

Licensed Business No.: LB 7768
www.geopointsurvey.com

528 Northlake Blvd, Suite 1040
Altamonte Springs, Florida 32701

 Phone: (321) 270-0440

Central Florida

Judd French LS7095

REZONING PARCEL

A parcel of land lying in Section 38, Township 6 South, Range 26, Clay County, Florida, and being more particularly
described as follows:

COMMENCE at the Intersection of the Northwesterly Right-of-way line of State Road 16 and the Southwesterly
Right-of-way line of State Road 15 (U.S. Highway 17); thence run N 15°56'32" W along said Southwesterly Right-of-way
line of State Road 15, a distance of 143.24 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING; thence departing said Southwesterly
Right-of-way line, run S 73°50'33" W, a distance of 235.08 feet; thence N 14°29'51" W, a distance of 89.83 feet; thence N
14°29'51" W, a distance of 121.79 feet; thence N 66°12'16" E, a distance of 30.36 feet; thence N 66°10'11" E, a distance
of 169.13 feet; thence N 74°43'31" E, a distance of 0.17 feet; thence N 66°15'51" E, a distance of 54.35 feet; thence S
15°46'46" E, a distance of 148.15 feet; thence S 15°46'37" E, a distance of 97.18 feet; thence S 73°50'33" W, a distance
of 21.18 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING.

Containing 1.331 acres, more or less.

NOTES:
1) The bearings shown hereon are based on the Southwesterly Right-of-way line of State Road 15 (U.S. 17), having a
Grid bearing of N 15°56'32" W. The Grid bearings shown hereon refer to the State Plane Coordinate System, North
American Datum of 1983 (NAD 83-2007 Adjustment) for the East Zone of Florida.

SEE SHEET 1 FOR DESCRIPTION
SEE SHEET 2 FOR SKETCH

BISHOP PROPERTY - REZONING
PARCEL

EXHIBIT A

Page 104

Item #4.



POINT OF
COMMENCEMENT

ST
A

T
E

 R
O

A
D

 15

REZONING PARCEL

STATE ROAD 16

POINT OF
BEGINNING

Line Data Table

No. Bearing Length

of     02 02FILE PATH: BISHOPPORPERTY-REZONINGPARCEL-SOD.DWG      LAST SAVED BY: MATTCHEPOLIS

Description Sketch
(Not A Survey)

See Sheet 1 for Signature & Revisions

N
O

R
T

H

0

1" = 60'

6030

GeoPoint
Surveying, Inc.

Licensed Business No.: LB 7768
www.geopointsurvey.com

528 Northlake Blvd, Suite 1040
Altamonte Springs, Florida 32701

 Phone: (321) 270-0440

Central Florida

NOTE:
SEE SHEET 1 FOR DESCRIPTION
SEE SHEET 2 FOR SKETCH

EXHIBIT B

Page 105

Item #4.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council MEETING DATE: June 20, 2023 

FROM: Mike Null, Assistant City Manager 

SUBJECT: Approval of Pay Application #9 from EltonAlan, Inc. for construction of the Palmetto Trail 

Project in the amount of $140,318.89 from the amended contract amount of $1,551,660.92, 

leaving a balance of $381,620.19 in the contract.  Mike Null 
 

BACKGROUND 

 

At the July 5, 2022, Council awarded Bid # 2022-02, construction of the Palmetto Trail Project to 

EltonAlan, Inc. in the award amount of $1,544,374.81.  This is a Local Area Project (LAP) project 

funded through an agreement with FDOT for the construction phase of project 43677-1-38-02, to 

construct a trail along Palmetto Ave from Oak St to Harbor Road and along MLK Jr. Blvd from 

Palmetto Ave to Vera Francis Hall Park.  The FDOT construction budget is $1,611,250.00.  Staff will be 

managing the project and FDOT will be funding the pay requests on a reimbursable basis. 

At the October 17, 2022 Council Meeting, Council approved Pay App #1 in the amount of $80,705.77. 

At the November 15, 2022 Council Meeting, Council approved Pay App #2 in the amount of 

$154,242.74. 

At the December 13, 2022 Council Meeting, Council approved Pay App #3 in the amount of 

$123,474.08. 

At the January 17, 2023 Council Meeting, Council approved Pay App #4 in the amount of $135,711.04. 

At the February 21, 2023 Council Meeting, Council approved Pay App #5 in the amount of 

$132,315.18. 

At the March 21, 2023 Council Meeting, Council approved Pay App #6 in the amount of $114,181.80. 

At the April 18, 2023 Council Meeting, Council approved Pay App #7 in the amount of $143,735.47. 

At the May 16, 2023 Council Meeting, Council approved Pay App #8 in the amount of $145,355.76. 

Attached for approval is Pay Application #9 in the amount of $140,318.89.  The application has been 

approved by the contractor, the project engineer and City staff and found to be reasonable for the work 

completed to date. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

This project is funded by a FDOT LAP agreement on a reimbursable basis.   

RECOMMENDATION 

Page 106

Item #5.



Approve Pay Application #9 from EltonAlan, Inc. for construction of the Palmetto Trail Project in the 

amount of $140,318.89 from the amended contract amount of $1,551,660.92, leaving a balance of 

$381,620.19 in the contract.  

Page 107

Item #5.



        4140 NW 27 Lane, Suite G 
Gainesville, FL 32606 

  Telephone: (352) 226-8447 
  

  
 
 
 

MONTHLY INVOICE TRANSMITTAL No. 9: 
 
Description:    Palmetto Avenue, Green Cove Springs           
Financial ID:           435677-1-58-01  
Federal Aid No.:     D221-019-B 
Contract No.:          G2390  
 

 
Attached, please find the following items included in the Monthly Invoice Submittal Package for your 
review/further processing: 
 
 Transmittal Letter 
 Application and Certificate for Payment with Schedule 
 Certification of Previous Payment to Subcontractor  
 Construction Compliance with Specifications and Plans  
 Channelizing Device Supplier Certification 
 Cone Letter – N/A 

 
Contract Time & Money Status Report 

Begin Time:  9/1/22 
Invoice Period: 5/1/23 to 5/31/23 
Invoice No.:   9  
 

MONEY  TIME 

Original Contract Amount:  $1,544,374.81  Substantial Completion Duration  266 

Change Order No. 1‐4   $7,286.11  Days Added by Change Order  3 

Adjusted Amount:  $1,551,660.92  Days Added by Weather/Holidays  26 

Amount Due This Period:  $147,704.09  Days Allowed  295 

Less Retainage (5%)  $7,385.20  Days Used  273 

Amount Paid this Period:  $140,318.89  Days Remaining  22 

Amount Previously Paid  $1,029,721.84  % Days Used  92% 

Total Paid to Date:  $1,170,040.73  Final Completion Duration  30 

Balance of Contract Amount:   $381,620.19  Days Used  0 

% Paid:  75%  Days Remaining  30 

    % Days Used  0% 
 
Retainage Held   Amount 
Invoice 1  $4,247.67 
Invoice 2  $8,118.04 
Invoice 3  $6,498.64 
Invoice 4  $7,142.69 
Invoice 5  $6,963.96 
Invoice 6  $6,009.57 
Invoice 7  $7,565.03 
Invoice 8  $7,650.30 
Total  $7,385.20 
Total  $61,581.10 

Page 108

Item #5.



 

Page 109

Item #5.



INVOICE
Invoice Date: 5/31/2023

EltonAlan Project Number: 32-0090

Project: Invoice Number: 202202 - 9
1,544,374.81$  

Green Cove Springs Contract No.: 7,286.11$         
Financial Project No.: 1,551,660.92$  

LAP Contract No.: 147,704.09$     
Federal Aid Project No: (7,385.20)$        

Attn: 140,318.89$     
1,029,721.84$  

1,170,040.73$  
381,620.19$     

Invoice Period: 75.76%

Contract Item Unit

Current 

Contract 

Quantity

Total 

Quantity 

Invoiced 

to Date

Previously 

Invoiced 

Quantity

Quantity 

Invoiced 

This 

Period Unit Cost

Amount Due This 

Period

0101 1 - MOBILIZATION  LS 1.0 1.0 1.0 0.0  $  115,376.00  $                        -   

0102 1 - MAINTENANCE OF TRAFFIC  LS 1.0 0.9 0.8 0.1  $    98,177.00  $             8,835.93 

0104 10 3 - SEDIMENT BARRIER  LF 2,598.0 909.0 909.0 0.0  $            1.26  $                        -   

0104 18 - INLET PROTECTION SYSTEM  EA 47.0 5.0 5.0 0.0  $        132.26  $                        -   

0110 1 1 - CLEARING & GRUBBING (AC = 2.91)  LS 1.0 0.9 0.9 0.1  $  124,701.00  $             9,976.08 

0110 4 10 - REMOVAL OF EXISTING CONCRETE  SY 6,345.6 6,137.5 5,661.6 475.9  $          12.82  $             6,101.04 

0110 7 1 - MAILBOX, F&I SINGLE  EA 11.0 11.0 11.0 0.0  $        315.64  $                        -   

0120 1 - REGULAR EXCAVATION  CY 1,014.9 674.5 640.2 34.3  $          23.08  $                791.64 

0120 6 - EMBANKMENT  CY 558.7 550.4 494.6 55.8  $          40.75  $             2,273.85 

0285 704 - OPTIONAL BASE, BASE GROUP 04  SY 198.0 102.5 0.0 102.5  $          66.13  $             6,778.33 

0334 1 13 - SUPERPAVE ASPHALTIC CONC, 

TRAFFIC C
 TN 32.6 16.9 0.0 16.9  $        165.31  $             2,795.39 

0339 1 - SUMMARY OF MISCELLANEOUS ASPHALT 

PAVEMENT
 TN 2.4 0.0 0.0 0.0  $        165.42  $                        -   

0425 1201 - INLETS, CURB, TYPE 9, <10'  EA 1 1 1 0  $      5,923.00  $                        -   

0425 1421 - INLETS, CURB, TYPE J-2, <10'  EA 1 0 0 0  $      7,091.00  $                        -   

0425 1521 - INLETS, DT BOT, TYPE C,<10'  EA 4 3 0 3  $      5,377.50  $           16,132.50 

0425 1543 - INLETS, DT BOT, TYPE D, J BOT, <10'  EA 1 0 0 0  $      6,554.00  $                        -   

0425 1711 - INLETS, GUTTER, TYPE V, <10'  EA 2 2 1 1  $      6,290.50  $             6,290.50 

0425 2 41 - MANHOLES, P-7, <10'  EA 1 1 1 0  $      6,618.00  $                        -   

0425 2 63 - MANHOLES, P-8, PARTIAL  EA 1 0 0 0  $      4,863.00  $                        -   

0425 2 71 - MANHOLES, J-7, <10'  EA 1 0 0 0  $      7,997.00  $                        -   

0425 5 - MANHOLE, ADJUST  EA 4 4 0 4  $        901.00  $             3,604.00 

0425 5 1 - MANHOLE, ADJUST, UTILITIES  EA 1 1 0 1  $        902.00  $                902.00 

0425 6 - VALVE BOXES, ADJUST  EA 44 38 36 2  $        363.84  $                727.68 

430175118 - PIPE CULVERT,OPTIONAL 

MATERIAL,ROUND, 18"S/CD
 LF 17 17 8 9  $        120.24  $             1,082.16 

430175215 - PIPE CULVERT,OPTIONAL 

MATERIAL,OTHER-ELIP/ARCH, 15"S/CD
 LF 238 0 0 0  $        132.46  $                        -   

430175218 - PIPE CULVERT,OPTIONAL 

MATERIAL,OTHER-ELIP/ARCH, 18"S/CD
 LF 173 173 0 173  $        146.29  $           25,308.17 

D221-019-B
Kevin Wagner
1440 NW 27th Ln Suite G
Gainesville, FL 32606

Less Retainage (5% ):
Amount Paid This Period:

Amount Previously Paid:
Amount Paid to Date:

Palmetto Avenue / Green 

Cove Springs
2022-02
435677-1-58-01
G2390

Original Contract Amount:
Change Order Amount:

Adjusted Contract Amount:
Amount Due This Period

Contract Amount Remaining:
% Paid:May-2023

Page 110

Item #5.



Contract Item Unit

Current 

Contract 

Quantity

Total 

Quantity 

Invoiced 

to Date

Previously 

Invoiced 

Quantity

Quantity 

Invoiced 

This 

Period Unit Cost

Amount Due This 

Period

0515 1 1 - PIPE HANDRAIL - GUIDERAIL, STEEL  LF 12 0 0 0  $        164.75  $                        -   

0520 1 10 - CONCRETE CURB & GUTTER, TYPE F  LF 1643.0 1103.5 1001.8 101.7  $          31.64  $             3,217.79 

0520 1 12 - CONCRETE CURB & GUTTER, TYPE F 

WITH SPECIAL GUTTER PROFILE
 LF 42.0 42.0 0.0 42.0  $          41.07  $             1,724.94 

0520 2 2 - CONCRETE CURB, TYPE B  LF 1053.0 877.8 877.8 0.0  $          38.44  $                        -   

0520 2 4 - CONCRETE CURB, TYPE D  LF 332.0 75.6 41.6 34.0  $          37.65  $             1,280.10 

0520 6 - SHOULDER GUTTER- CONCRETE  LF 71.0 71.2 71.2 0.0  $          35.64  $                        -   

0522 1 - CONCRETE SIDEWALK AND DRIVEWAYS, 

4" THICK
SY 9,133.7 8,642.1 8,040.7 601.4  $          45.56  $           27,399.78 

0522 2 - CONCRETE SIDEWALK AND DRIVEWAYS, 

6" THICK
SY 2,480.5 2,113.9 1,982.2 131.7  $          59.19  $             7,795.32 

0527 2 - DETECTABLE WARNINGS  SF 1,322.0 881.1 739.7 141.4  $          26.40  $             3,732.96 

0570 1 2 - PERFORMANCE TURF, SOD SY 8,191.0 7,722.3 6,918.7 803.6  $            9.48  $             7,618.13 

1080 21500 - UTILITY FIXTURE, VALVE/METER 

BOX, ADJUST
 EA 36 0 0 0  $        365.50  $                        -   

1644 800 - FIRE HYDRANT, (RELOCATE)  EA 8 0 0 0  $      1,983.75  $                        -   

700 1 11 - SINGLE POST SIGN, F&I GROUND 

MOUNT, UP TO 12 SF
 AS 34 0 0 0  $        919.15  $                        -   

700 1 12 - SINGLE POST SIGN, F&I GROUND 

MOUNT, 12-20 SF
 AS 13 0 0 0  $      1,124.15  $                        -   

700 1 50 - SINGLE POST SIGN, RELOCATE  AS 8 0 0 0  $        287.63  $                        -   

700 1 60 - SINGLE POST SIGN, REMOVE  AS 34 0 0 0  $          77.94  $                        -   

700 3 601 - SINGLE POST SIGN, REMOVE  EA 7 0 0 0  $          72.14  $                        -   

706 1 1 - RAISED PAVEMENT MARKER, TYPE B 

WITHOUT FINAL SURFACE MARKINGS
 EA 21 0 0 0  $            9.93  $                        -   

710 1 123 - PAINTED PAVEMENT MARKINGS, 

STANDARD, WHITE, SOLID FOR CROSSWALK, 12"
 LF 91 0 0 0  $            1.56  $                        -   

710 11 125 - PAINTED PAVEMENT MARKINGS, 

STANDARD, WHITE, SOLID FOR STOP LINE OR 

CROSSWALK, 24"

 LF 13 0 0 0  $            4.51  $                        -   

710 11 201 - PAINTED PAVEMENT MARKINGS, 

STANDARD, YELLOW, SOLID, 6"
GM 0.0050 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000  $      3,070.00  $                        -   

711 11 123 - THERMOPLASTIC, STD, WHITE, 

SOLID, 12" FOR CROSSWALK
 LF 1,998 0 0 0  $            4.51  $                        -   

711 11 125 - THERMOPLASTIC, STD, WHITE, 

SOLID, 24" FOR STOP LINE
 LF 1,928 0 0 0  $            9.02  $                        -   

711 16 201 - THERMOPLASTIC, STANDARD-OTHER 

SURFACES, YELLOW, SOLID, 6"
 GM 0.0050 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000  $    12,030.00  $                        -   

711 17 1 - THERMOPLASTIC, REMOVE EXISTING 

THERMOPLASTIC PAVEMENT MARKINGS- 

SURFACE TO REMAIN

 SF 1,065 0 0 0  $            3.97  $                        -   

 - Concrete Cutting  LS 1 1 0 1  $      1,375.00  $             1,375.00 

 - Flowable Fill  CY 12 12 0 12  $        163.40  $             1,960.80 

 $         147,704.09 

For questions regarding this invoice, please contact:

Mike Holcomb @ 904.891.0360 or email:

Please remit payment of this invoice to:

4463 Hyarbour North Court | Jacksonville, FL 32225

AMOUNT DUE THIS PERIOD

Page 111

Item #5.



Page 112

Item #5.



Page 113

Item #5.



Page 114

Item #5.



Tel. No. 954-423-2627 Fax No. 954-473-8737

MAY, 2023

I certifiy that I we have provided and maintained the following devices, Type II and/or III Barricades/Barrels in accordance

with Pedestrian LCD Evaluation Guice and the ATSSA Quality  Guidelines for Temporary Traffic Control

BOB'S BARRICADES, INC.
921 Shotgun Road, Sunrise, FL 33326

STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

MONTHLY CERTIFICATION OF MAINTENANCE

OF CHANNELIZING DEVICES

CONTRACTOR

Contractor's Authorized Agent (Signature):

CERTIFICATION NO. 9 STATE ROAD NO.

435677-1-58-01 CONTRACT NO. G2390          MONTH OF: 

PALMETTO AVE

FINANCIAL ID NUMBER:

ELTON ALAN, INC.

Devices and Features.

Contractor's Authorized Agent (Print Name & Co.):

Page 115

Item #5.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council Regular Session. MEETING DATE: June 20, 2023 

FROM: Mike Null, Asst. City Manager 

SUBJECT: City Council Approval to issue a purchase order in the amount of $60,495.50 to Tampa 

Crane & Body to install cameras on 17 large city trucks.  Mike Null 
 

BACKGROUND 

Mediated settlements in vehicle accidents involving city vehicles have increased considerably in dollar 

amount of the settlements in recent months.  Often, it is difficult to determine definitively who is at 

fault.  This prompted staff to investigate the installation of cameras on our larger city vehicles as they 

seem to be more likely to be involved in an accident and can cause more damage due to their size. 

All companies that we contacted recommended 3rd Eye brand camera systems.  We received two quotes 

and a “no quote”.  The low quote was provided by Tampa Crane & Body at an installed price of 

$3,558.55 per vehicle.  Staff has identified 17 large trucks that are often on the road for the cameras to 

be installed.  The plan is to install one forward-facing, one rear-facing and one driver-facing camera.  

The quote is to install these cameras with an SD Card memory that will record up to 60 days.  The 

cameras will record anytime the ignition is on and mark any “event”.  While the cameras are capable of 

GPS tracking, livestream, route plotting, documenting time, location and a photo of every stop / pick-up, 

staff feels that there is not a need for these additional features at this time.  However, they can be added 

at any time and would require cellular service for each vehicle as well. 

Staff is requesting that Council waive the formal bidding procedures for this purchase as allowed by our 

Purchasing Policies, as a formal bid is likely to result in much higher pricing due to bidding and bonding 

requirements.  Additionally, staff is requesting approval of this purchase. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

To be charged to each respective department operating budget.  Most vehicles are in either 

Electric or Solid Waste. 

RECOMMENDATION 

Approve issuance of a purchase order in the amount of $60,495.50 to Tampa Crane & Body to install 

cameras on 17 large city trucks.   
 

Page 116

Item #6.



Page 117

Item #6.



Page 118

Item #6.



Page 119

Item #6.



Page 120

Item #6.



Page 121

Item #6.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Counsel Regular Session MEETING DATE: June 20, 2023 

FROM: Andy Yeager, Electric Director 

SUBJECT: Information Only for City Code Section 113-190 Single and Three Phase service credits 
 

BACKGROUND 

In City Code section 113-190 it tells how to figure credits for new customers for both single and three 

phase services. I have reviewed the City Code and made changes to reflect changes in cost of Material 

and Labor in current times. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

The impact will be what the current credit is now compared to what it will be when making the 

change to the cost of material and labor in current times. 

RECOMMENDATION 

Recommendation to update the pricing for single phase and three phase credits to today’s current 

prices. In addition to that, look at the credits at the beginning of every fiscal year for both single 

and three phase services for new customers and make changes if necessary.  
 

Page 122

Item #7.



WO# City Code Estimate three phase DATE

Stock # Description Quantity UOM Unit Price Extend Price

E-3730 ANCHOR 8''X10' SCREW 4 EA 67.47$        269.88$          

E-1401 PVC CONDUIT ADPT 4 X 6 E939NRT 1 EA 109.46$      109.46$          

E-3520 U-GUARD, 4'' PVC 10' SECTION 3 EA 38.51$        115.53$          

E-2395 SCREW, PLATED 1/4''X1 1/2'' W/FW/100/BAG 30 BX 0.25$          7.50$              

E-2490 METER RING SLNG SCREW TYPE 1 EA 8.20$          8.20$              

E-GREEN SEAL, ELECT.  METER (GREEN) 1 EA 0.19$          0.19$              

E-3116 METER MULTIMEASUREMENT FM 16S 1 EA 304.97$      304.97$          

E-0011 SINGLE PHASE/ SINGLE POSITION 15* MOUNT /PART #: F1CA-MV-A18-S1-H/ROD DIAMETER: 1 1/2''/STAND OFF LENGTH: 18''3 EA 31.35$        94.05$            

E-1845 INSULATOR BRACKET SIDE MNT. 3 EA 121.42$      364.26$          

E-3808 NEUTRAL BRACKETS 1 EA 7.35$          7.35$              

E-1420 BRACKET,TRANS TANK MOUNT 3 EA 41.95$        125.85$          

E-2200 BOLT EYE 14'' 8 EA 2.70$          21.60$            

E-2130 BOLT MACHINE 14'' 27 EA 2.51$          67.77$            

E-1850 INSULATOR STUD J25247.1 (SMALL STUD BOLT 2.5'')3 EA 1.84$          5.52$              

E-2406 WASHER, LOCK, DOUBLE COIL 5/8 (C2050186)35 EA 0.21$          7.35$              

E-2410 WASHER SQUARE 2X2 35 EA 1.12$          39.20$            

E-2415 WASHER SQUARE CURVED 14 EA 1.13$          15.82$            

E-0835 CLAMP, JUMPER BRONZE ''K1UL'' 6 EA 2.41$          14.46$            

E-3005 A to C clamp 5 0 2.03$          10.15$            

E-2955 MULTI TAP CONNECTOR BTC4-350 7 EA 25.17$        176.19$          

E-0300 COMP-TAP WR 379 ''5'' 3 EA 0.76$          2.28$              

E-0800 HOT LINE CLAMP BRONZE BC-2/0 6 EA 7.07$          42.42$            

E-0787 STIRRUP HOTLINE(8-2/0) ALUM. 3 EA 24.47$        73.41$            

E-0785 STIRRUP,HOTLINE(397.5-477)ALUM 3 EA 23.76$        71.28$            

E-1870 STRAIN INSULATOR, LONG 78'' 6 EA 21.22$        127.32$          

E-1380 GUY GRIPS 3/8'' PREF. 12 EA 6.91$          82.92$            

E-3540 GUY GUARDS YELLOW 4 EA 3.18$          12.72$            

E-3560 WIRE 3/8'' GUY 200 FT 0.86$          172.00$          

E-1615 DOWN GUY ATTACHMENT W/EYE 6 EA 5.28$          31.68$            

E-1450 ARRESTOR 18KV 3 EA 54.87$        164.61$          

E-1780 INSULATOR 7.2KV SPL. 1 EA 0.65$          0.65$              

E-1860 INSULATOR D.E. EPOXY 6 EA 12.41$        74.46$            

E-1875 STRAIN INSULATOR, SMALL 18''/ALUMAFORM FGS16-18CT3 EA 20.92$        62.76$            

E-1833 INSULATOR,TIE TOP 35KV F NECK 5 EA 64.51$        322.55$          

E-1950 DEADEND CLAMP ALUM. MEDIUM 8 EA 15.25$        122.00$          

E-0018 1/0 Preform SIDE TIE 5 0 2.57$          12.85$            

E-0810 CLAMP TRNS. GRND TTC2 3 EA 4.68$          14.04$            

E-0850 CLAMP GRD ROD CU 5/8 2 EA 1.84$          3.68$              

E-0860 GROUND ROD CU. 8FT 6 EA 8.97$          53.82$            

E-0840 COUPLING GRD ROD 5/8 4 EA 3.98$          15.92$            

E-1460 CUTOUT 27KV 100 AMP 6 EA 81.77$        490.62$          

3,719.29$       

PAGE 1

MATERIAL ESTIMATE/REQUEST

June 5, 2023

Page 123

Item #7.



WO# City Code Estimate three phase DATE

Stock # Description Quantity UOM Unit Price Extend Price

E-FL025 FUSE LINK 25 AMP/KEARNEY 21025 3 EA 4.02$          12.06$            

E-FL003 FUSE LINK 3 AMP/KEARNEY 21003 2 EA 3.82$          7.64$              

ETAE-2325 TRANSFORMER AERIAL 23KV/25KVA 120/240 2 EA 2,731.00$   5,462.00$       

E-WP21116 ANIMAL GUARD 3 0 10.92$        32.76$            

E-3650 WIRE #6 CU SOFT DRAWN 150 FT 0.54$          81.00$            

E-3640 INSULATED #6 SOFT DRAWN COPPER 72 FT 0.70$          50.40$            

E-3455 WIRE 1/0 AAAC ''AZUSA'' 2000 FT 0.48$          960.00$          

E-3547 STAPLES, GRND. WIRE 1/2'' 30 EA 0.01$          0.15$              

E-3580 WIRE #6 SD ALUM TIE/ 25# = 1003' SPOOL 6 FT 0.25$          1.50$              

E-P502 WOOD POLE 50' CL2 2 EA 606.00$      1,212.00$       

E-0010 TIN BRONZE GRIP /PART#: OE-112-SW-TB /RANGE: 1 1/8'' - 1 15/8''/WL LBS: 675/UTS LBS: 1,350/MESH: 14''/EYE: 6''1 EA 31.46$        31.46$            

E-0053 J HOOK 1 0 1.43$          1.43$              

E-0015  3PHASE L BRACKET 1 0 116.70$      116.70$          

E-FL005 FUSE LINK 5 AMP/KEARNEY 21005 1 EA 3.20$          3.20$              

ETAE-2350 TRANSFORMER AERIAL 23KV/50KVA 120/240 1 EA 2,855.00$   2,855.00$       

E-2515 3/4'' X 16 '' MACHINE BOLT 2 EA 7.81$          15.62$            

E-2416 WASHER 4'' x 4''/GCW41A 2 EA 3.36$          6.72$              

E-1500 RACK TRANSFORMER ALUMNAFORM 1 EA 252.05$      252.05$          

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

page 1 total 1 1 3,719.29$   3,719.29$       

0 0 -$            -$                

Material Total 14,820.98$     

PAGE 2 

MATERIAL ESTIMATE/REQUEST

June 5, 2023

Page 124

Item #7.



WO# DATE

Stock # Description Quantity UOM Unit Price Extend Price

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

-$                

PAGE 3

MATERIAL ESTIMATE/REQUEST

January 23, 2019

Page 125

Item #7.



WO# DATE

Stock # Description Quantity UOM Unit Price Extend Price

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

-$                

PAGE 4

MATERIAL ESTIMATE/REQUEST

June 5, 2023

Page 126

Item #7.



WO# DATE

Stock # Description Quantity UOM Unit Price Extend Price

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

-$                

PAGE 5

MATERIAL ESTIMATE/REQUEST

June 5, 2023

Page 127

Item #7.



WO# DATE

Stock # Description Quantity UOM Unit Price Extend Price

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

-$                

PAGE 6 

June 5, 2023

MATERIAL ESTIMATE/REQUEST

Page 128

Item #7.



WO# DATE

Stock # Description Quantity UOM Unit Price Extend Price

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

-$                

PAGE 7

MATERIAL ESTIMATE/REQUEST

June 5, 2023

Page 129

Item #7.



WO# DATE

Stock # Description Quantity UOM Unit Price Extend Price

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

-$                

PAGE 8

MATERIAL ESTIMATE/REQUEST

June 5, 2023

Page 130

Item #7.



WO# DATE

Stock # Description Quantity UOM Unit Price Extend Price

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

-$                

PAGE 9

MATERIAL ESTIMATE/REQUEST

June 5, 2023

Page 131

Item #7.



WO# DATE

Stock # Description Quantity UOM Unit Price Extend Price

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

-$                

PAGE 10

MATERIAL ESTIMATE/REQUEST

June 5, 2023

Page 132

Item #7.



Page 133

Item #7.



DATE:

FROM:

BILL TO:

REIMBURSABLE COSTS:

JOB DESCRIPTION:

DATE OF INCIDENT:

SECTION A:  CONTRACT LABOR

NAME RATE/HR ST HRS SUBTOTAL OT RATE/HR OT HRS SUBTOTAL

Joe Hansford  $    55.00 4  $         220.00  $    75.00  $         -   

Robby Mayben  $    53.03  $                 -    $    69.00  $         -   

Lonnie Barr  $    57.68 8  $         461.44  $    69.00  $         -   

Adam Stines  $    54.64 8  $         437.12  $    69.00  $         -   

Doug Nick  $    49.33  $                 -    $    69.00  $         -   

Parry Eidsmoe  $    46.00 8  $         368.00  $    69.00  $         -   

Wade Hoilman  $    28.42 8  $         227.36  $    31.50  $         -   

Josh Grant  $    21.00  $                 -    $    31.50  $         -   

SECTION B  EQUIPMENT

EQUIPMENT RATE/HR HRS SUBTOTAL

OVERHEAD PULLER  $                 -   

URD PULLER  $                 -   

FLATBED TRAILER  $                 -   

POLE TRAILER  $                 -   

BACKHOE  $                 -   

SquartBucket Truck  418  $       150.00  $                 -   

BUCKET TRUCK     401  $       150.00  $                 -   

BUCKET TRUCK    405  $       150.00  $                 -   

BUCKET TRUCK    408  $       150.00 8  $      1,200.00 

BUCKET TRUCK    417  $       150.00 8  $      1,200.00 

DIGGER TRUCK 419  $       150.00 8  $      1,200.00 

DIGGER TRUCK 404  $       150.00  $                 -   

DIGGER TRUCK 435  $       150.00  $                 -   Estimate for Standard Services per Code Sec.78-31

PICKUP 403  $         26.00  $                 -   Standard Single Phase Service

PICKUP 406  $         26.00  $                 -   Standard Three Phase Service

City Code Estimate for single phase

Thursday, June 1, 2023

SECTION A TOTAL

Page 134

Item #7.

http://www.greencovesprings.com/
http://www.greencovesprings.com/


PICKUP 411  $         26.00 8  $         208.00 

 $      3,808.00 SECTION B: EQUIPMENT

Page 135

Item #7.



TOTAL

 $         220.00 

 $                 -   

 $         461.44 

 $         437.12 

 $                 -   

 $         368.00 

 $         227.36 

 $                 -   

1,713.92$       

Estimate for Standard Services per Code Sec.78-31

Page 136

Item #7.

http://www.greencovesprings.com/
http://www.greencovesprings.com/


Page 137

Item #7.



DATE:

FROM:

BILL TO:

REIMBURSABLE COSTS:

JOB DESCRIPTION:

DATE OF INCIDENT:

SECTION A:  CONTRACT LABOR

NAME RATE/HR ST HRS SUBTOTAL OT RATE/HR OT HRS SUBTOTAL

Joe Hansford  $    55.00 10  $         550.00  $    75.00  $         -   

Robby Mayben  $    53.03  $                 -    $    69.00  $         -   

Lonnie Barr  $    57.68 10  $         576.80  $    69.00  $         -   

Adam Stines  $    54.64 10  $         546.40  $    69.00  $         -   

Doug Nick  $    49.33  $                 -    $    69.00  $         -   

Parry Eidsmoe  $    46.00 10  $         460.00  $    69.00  $         -   

Wade Hoilman  $    28.42 10  $         284.20  $    31.50  $         -   

Josh Grant  $    21.00  $                 -    $    31.50  $         -   

SECTION B  EQUIPMENT

EQUIPMENT RATE/HR HRS SUBTOTAL

OVERHEAD PULLER  $                 -   

URD PULLER  $                 -   

FLATBED TRAILER  $                 -   

POLE TRAILER  $                 -   

BACKHOE  $                 -   

SquartBucket Truck  418  $       150.00  $                 -   

BUCKET TRUCK     401  $       150.00  $                 -   

BUCKET TRUCK    405  $       150.00  $                 -   

BUCKET TRUCK    408  $       150.00 10  $      1,500.00 

BUCKET TRUCK    417  $       150.00 10  $      1,500.00 

DIGGER TRUCK 419  $       150.00 10  $      1,500.00 

DIGGER TRUCK 404  $       150.00  $                 -   

DIGGER TRUCK 435  $       150.00  $                 -   Estimate for Standard Services per Code Sec.78-31

PICKUP 403  $         26.00  $                 -   Standard Single Phase Service

PICKUP 406  $         26.00  $                 -   Standard Three Phase Service

City Code Estimate for three phase

Monday, June 5, 2023

SECTION A TOTAL

Page 138

Item #7.

http://www.greencovesprings.com/
http://www.greencovesprings.com/


PICKUP 411  $         26.00 10  $         260.00 

 $      4,760.00 SECTION B: EQUIPMENT

Page 139

Item #7.



TOTAL

 $         550.00 

 $                 -   

 $         576.80 

 $         546.40 

 $                 -   

 $         460.00 

 $         284.20 

 $                 -   

2,417.40$       

Estimate for Standard Services per Code Sec.78-31

Page 140

Item #7.

http://www.greencovesprings.com/
http://www.greencovesprings.com/


Page 141

Item #7.



WO# City Code Estimate single phase DATE

Stock # Description Quantity UOM Unit Price Extend Price

E-3730 ANCHOR 8''X10' SCREW 2 EA 67.47$        134.94$          

E-1405 PVC CONDUIT 4'' X 2'' ADAPTER BOOT 1 EA 55.66$        55.66$            

E-3510 U-GUARD, 2'' PVC 10' SECTION 3 EA 17.27$        51.81$            

E-2395 SCREW, PLATED 1/4''X1 1/2'' W/FW/100/BAG 30 BX 0.25$          7.50$              

E-2490 METER RING SLNG SCREW TYPE 1 EA 8.20$          8.20$              

E-GREEN SEAL, ELECT.  METER (GREEN) 1 EA 0.19$          0.19$              

E-3050 METER, ELECT. AMR CL200 3W 240V 1 EA 58.00$        58.00$            

E-0011 SINGLE PHASE/ SINGLE POSITION 15* MOUNT /PART #: F1CA-MV-A18-S1-H/ROD DIAMETER: 1 1/2''/STAND OFF LENGTH: 18''2 EA 31.35$        62.70$            

E-1845 INSULATOR BRACKET SIDE MNT. 1 EA 121.42$      121.42$          

E-3808 NEUTRAL BRACKETS 1 EA 7.35$          7.35$              

E-1420 BRACKET,TRANS TANK MOUNT 1 EA 41.95$        41.95$            

E-2200 BOLT EYE 14'' 4 EA 2.70$          10.80$            

E-2130 BOLT MACHINE 14'' 17 EA 2.51$          42.67$            

E-1850 INSULATOR STUD J25247.1 (SMALL STUD BOLT 2.5'')1 EA 1.84$          1.84$              

E-2406 WASHER, LOCK, DOUBLE COIL 5/8 (C2050186)21 EA 0.21$          4.41$              

E-2410 WASHER SQUARE 2X2 17 EA 1.12$          19.04$            

E-2415 WASHER SQUARE CURVED 8 EA 1.13$          9.04$              

E-0835 CLAMP, JUMPER BRONZE ''K1UL'' 4 EA 2.41$          9.64$              

E-3005 A to C clamp 2 0 2.03$          4.06$              

E-2955 MULTI TAP CONNECTOR BTC4-350 3 EA 25.17$        75.51$            

E-0300 COMP-TAP WR 379 ''5'' 3 EA 0.76$          2.28$              

E-0800 HOT LINE CLAMP BRONZE BC-2/0 1 EA 7.07$          7.07$              

E-0787 STIRRUP HOTLINE(8-2/0) ALUM. 1 EA 24.47$        24.47$            

E-0785 STIRRUP,HOTLINE(397.5-477)ALUM 1 EA 23.76$        23.76$            

E-1870 STRAIN INSULATOR, LONG 78'' 2 EA 21.22$        42.44$            

E-1380 GUY GRIPS 3/8'' PREF. 8 EA 6.91$          55.28$            

E-3540 GUY GUARDS YELLOW 2 EA 3.18$          6.36$              

E-3560 WIRE 3/8'' GUY 120 FT 0.86$          103.20$          

E-1615 DOWN GUY ATTACHMENT W/EYE 4 EA 5.28$          21.12$            

E-1450 ARRESTOR 18KV 1 EA 54.87$        54.87$            

E-1780 INSULATOR 7.2KV SPL. 1 EA 0.65$          0.65$              

E-1860 INSULATOR D.E. EPOXY 2 EA 12.41$        24.82$            

E-1875 STRAIN INSULATOR, SMALL 18''/ALUMAFORM FGS16-18CT1 EA 20.92$        20.92$            

E-1833 INSULATOR,TIE TOP 35KV F NECK 1 EA 64.51$        64.51$            

E-1950 DEADEND CLAMP ALUM. MEDIUM 4 EA 15.25$        61.00$            

E-0018 1/0 Preform SIDE TIE 1 0 2.57$          2.57$              

E-0810 CLAMP TRNS. GRND TTC2 1 EA 4.68$          4.68$              

E-0850 CLAMP GRD ROD CU 5/8 2 EA 1.84$          3.68$              

E-0860 GROUND ROD CU. 8FT 6 EA 8.97$          53.82$            

E-0840 COUPLING GRD ROD 5/8 4 EA 3.98$          15.92$            

E-1460 CUTOUT 27KV 100 AMP 2 EA 81.77$        163.54$          

1,483.69$       

PAGE 1

MATERIAL ESTIMATE/REQUEST

May 31, 2023

Page 142

Item #7.



WO# City Code Estimate single phase DATE

Stock # Description Quantity UOM Unit Price Extend Price

E-FL025 FUSE LINK 25 AMP/KEARNEY 21025 1 EA 4.02$          4.02$              

E-FL003 FUSE LINK 3 AMP/KEARNEY 21003 1 EA 3.82$          3.82$              

ETAE-2325 TRANSFORMER AERIAL 23KV/25KVA 120/240 1 EA 2,731.00$   2,731.00$       

E-WP21116 ANIMAL GUARD 1 0 10.92$        10.92$            

E-3650 WIRE #6 CU SOFT DRAWN 55 FT 0.54$          29.70$            

E-3640 INSULATED #6 SOFT DRAWN COPPER 12 FT 0.70$          8.40$              

E-3455 WIRE 1/0 AAAC ''AZUSA'' 1000 FT 0.48$          480.00$          

E-3547 STAPLES, GRND. WIRE 1/2'' 30 EA 0.01$          0.15$              

E-3580 WIRE #6 SD ALUM TIE/ 25# = 1003' SPOOL 6 FT 0.25$          1.50$              

E-P452 WOOD POLE 45' CL2 2 EA 475.00$      950.00$          

E-0010 TIN BRONZE GRIP /PART#: OE-112-SW-TB /RANGE: 1 1/8'' - 1 15/8''/WL LBS: 675/UTS LBS: 1,350/MESH: 14''/EYE: 6''1 EA 31.46$        31.46$            

E-0053 J HOOK 1 0 1.43$          1.43$              

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

page 1 total 1 1 1,483.69$   1,483.69$       

0 0 -$            -$                

Material Total 5,736.09$       

PAGE 2 

MATERIAL ESTIMATE/REQUEST

May 31, 2023

Page 143

Item #7.



WO# DATE

Stock # Description Quantity UOM Unit Price Extend Price

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

-$                

PAGE 3

MATERIAL ESTIMATE/REQUEST

January 23, 2019

Page 144

Item #7.



WO# DATE

Stock # Description Quantity UOM Unit Price Extend Price

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

-$                

PAGE 4

MATERIAL ESTIMATE/REQUEST

May 31, 2023

Page 145

Item #7.



WO# DATE

Stock # Description Quantity UOM Unit Price Extend Price

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

-$                

PAGE 5

MATERIAL ESTIMATE/REQUEST

May 31, 2023

Page 146

Item #7.



WO# DATE

Stock # Description Quantity UOM Unit Price Extend Price

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

-$                

PAGE 6 

May 31, 2023

MATERIAL ESTIMATE/REQUEST

Page 147

Item #7.



WO# DATE

Stock # Description Quantity UOM Unit Price Extend Price

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

-$                

PAGE 7

MATERIAL ESTIMATE/REQUEST

May 31, 2023

Page 148

Item #7.



WO# DATE

Stock # Description Quantity UOM Unit Price Extend Price

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

-$                

PAGE 8

MATERIAL ESTIMATE/REQUEST

May 31, 2023

Page 149

Item #7.



WO# DATE

Stock # Description Quantity UOM Unit Price Extend Price

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

-$                

PAGE 9

MATERIAL ESTIMATE/REQUEST

May 31, 2023

Page 150

Item #7.



WO# DATE

Stock # Description Quantity UOM Unit Price Extend Price

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

0 0 -$            -$                

-$                

PAGE 10

MATERIAL ESTIMATE/REQUEST

May 31, 2023

Page 151

Item #7.



 CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS  

 

CITY COUNCIL REGULAR SESSION 

321 WALNUT STREET, GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TUESDAY, APRIL 18, 2023 – 7:00 PM 

MINUTES 

Invocation & Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag – Scott Springs Chapel 

Roll Call 

COUNCIL MEMBERS PRESENT: Mayor Matt Johnson, Vice Mayor Connie Butler, Council 

Member Ed Gaw, Council Member Steven Kelley, Council Member Thomas Smith 

STAFF MEMBERS PRESENT: L.J. Arnold, III, City Attorney, Steve Kennedy, City Manager, Mike 

Null, Assistant City Manager, Erin West, City Clerk 

Mayor to call on members of the audience wishing to address the Council on matters not on the Agenda. 

1. Linda Hobbs 1092 Buccaneer Blvd. GCS speaks to the Council concerning giving your name 

and address when speaking to the Council.  Ms. Hobbs also speaks concerning the Code 

Enforcement Officer. 

2. Rick Ott 1110 St. Johns Ave. GCS thanks Mr. Kennedy for addressing some concerns they spoke 

about.  Mainly the riprap including the safety issue, the clean up around the footbridge, and the 

abandoned boats. 

3. Joe Sobotta 212 North St. GCS speaks concerning the riprap and the cleaning around the 

footbridge and leaving the river alone. 

CONSENT AGENDA 

All matters under the consent agenda are considered to be routine by the city council and will be enacted 

by one motion in the form listed below. There will be no separate discussion on these items. If discussion 

is desired, that item will be removed from the consent agenda and will be considered separately. Backup 

documentation and staff recommendations have been previously submitted to the city council on these 

items. 

Vice Mayor Butler pulled item 4, Council Member Kelley pulled item 5, and City Manager 

Steve Kennedy pulled item 10. 

Motion to approve Consent Agenda items 1 through 18 minus 4, 5, and 10.  

Motion made by Council Member Smith, Seconded by Vice Mayor Butler. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Johnson, Vice Mayor Butler, Council Member Gaw, Council Member 

Kelley, Council Member Smith 

1. City Council approval of Certification of Unopposed Candidates for the 2023 Municipal 

Election.  Erin West 

2. City Council approval of, and authorization for the Mayor, City Attorney and City Clerk to 

execute Amendment 2 to the Florida Department of Environmental Protection (FDEP), State 

Revolving Fund (SRF), Agreement No. WW1000420, extending the construction completion 

Page 152

Item #8.



April 18, 2023 Minutes Page 2 of 4 

 

 

date to March 15, 2024, and adding certain records retention and audit requirements, for 

construction of the Harbor Road Advanced Wastewater Treatment Facility (HRAWWTF).  Scott 

Schultz 

3. City Council approval of the agreement with Evans Media Source.  Kimberly Thomas 

4. City Council approval of Resolution No. R-05-2023, requesting the reduction of permit fees by 

St. Johns River Water Management District and the Florida Department of Environmental 

Protection.  Steve Thomas 

Vice Mayor Butler asks if the wording should be less than. 

Assistant City Manager Mike Null advises it will be looked at and corrected. 

Motion to approve Consent Agenda item 4 with the corrected wording. 

Motion made by Vice Mayor Butler, Seconded by Council Member Smith. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Johnson, Vice Mayor Butler, Council Member Gaw, Council Member 

Kelley, Council Member Smith 

5. City Council approval of Purchase Order of $20,000 for the Temporary Building Official, Plan 

Review and Inspection Services with Universal Engineering Services, LLC.  Michael Daniels 

Council Member Kelley asks Development Services Director Michael Daniels how he thinks this 

will affect the timing of items being processed. 

Mr. Daniels advises it should not change the timing of items being processed. 

Motion to approve Consent Agenda item 5. 

Motion made by Council Member Kelley, Seconded by Vice Mayor Butler. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Johnson, Vice Mayor Butler, Council Member Gaw, Council Member 

Kelley, Council Member Smith 

6. City Council approval of the Public Service Recognition Week Proclamation.  Erin West 

7. City Council approval of the National Police Week Proclamation.  Erin West 

8. City Council approval of the Municipal Clerks Week Proclamation.  Erin West 

9. City Council approval of Pay Application #7 from EltonAlan, Inc. for construction of the 

Palmetto Trail Project in the amount of $143,735.47 from the amended contract amount of 

$1,546,336.05, leaving a balance of $661,969.97.  Mike Null 

10. City Council approval of the revised CRA Interlocal Agreement. Michael Daniels 

City Manager Steve Kennedy updates the Council on the CRA and advises he would like this 

item held from the agenda while some items were still be worked out. 

Motion to delay Consent Agenda item 10 until further notice. 

Motion made by Vice Mayor Butler, Seconded by Council Member Smith. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Johnson, Vice Mayor Butler, Council Member Gaw, Council Member 

Kelley, Council Member Smith 

11. City Council approval of, and authorization for the Mayor to execute, the St. Johns River Water 

Management District (SJRWMD), Cost Share Agreement Contract # 36028, Contract 

Page 153

Item #8.



April 18, 2023 Minutes Page 3 of 4 

 

 

Amendment #4 moving the construction completion date of the Harbor Road Water Reclamation 

Facility Phase 2 Project from May 31, 2023 to September 28, 2023.  Scott Schultz 

12. City Council approval of the purchase of underground electric cable for inventory from 

American Wire Group in the amount of $162,200.00 and Gresco in the amount of $111,760.00 

for a total amount of $273,960.00.  Staff are still working with other vendors on lead times and 

request the ability to amend the purchase if in the best interest of the city.  Scott Schultz 

13. City Council approval of, and authorization for the mayor to execute, Modification #1 to HMGP 

/ FDEM Contract # 4283-55-A, Governors Creek Hardening Project, Utility Mitigation Phase II, 

with an award to the City of $502,500.00 (75%) of the total project cost of $670,000.00 to move 

the electric transmission lines crossing Governors Creek along US17 from overhead to 

underground. This modification extends the project timeline to March 31, 2026. Mike Null 

14. City Council approval of Emergency Home Energy Assistance Program (EHEAP) Vendor 

Payment Agreement with Clay County Senior Services of Aging True.  Erin West 

15. City Council approval of 2/21/2023 Regular Session Minutes.  Erin West 

16. City Council approval of Amendment #2 to contracts with Patterson & Dewar and Tocoi 

Engineering for engineering services under Bid LC 2021-04 covering the period from April 21, 

2023 through April 20, 2024.  Mike Null 

17. City Council approval of Amendment #2 to contracts for each of CHW, CPH, Jones Edmunds, 

Mittauer, Tocoi Engineering, and WGI for engineering services under Bid LC 2021-02 covering 

the period from April 21, 2023 through April 20, 2024.  Mike Null 

18. City Council review and approval of street closure requests, alcohol area request, and fee waiver 

requests for a Major Event, CalaVida Festival. Michael Daniels  

COUNCIL BUSINESS 

19. City Manager & City Attorney Reports / Correspondence 

The City Manager and City Attorney made comments regarding various city activities, events, 

operations, and projects. 

City Manager Steve Kennedy advises the bids have come back in for the Form Base Code. 

Development Services Director Michael Daniels speaks to the Council concerning the bids and 

creating a selection committee.  He would like to include one Council Member. 

Council Member Kelley advises he would be willing to be on the FBC Committee 

20. City Council Reports / Correspondence 

The City Council made comments regarding various city activities, events, operations, and 

projects. 

 

 

Page 154

Item #8.



April 18, 2023 Minutes Page 4 of 4 

 

 

Adjournment 

There being no further business to come before the City Council, the meeting was adjourned at 8:49 

p.m. 

 CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 
 

 Daniel M. Johnson, Mayor 

  

Attest:  

 
 

Erin West, City Clerk  

 

Page 155

Item #8.



 CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS  

 

CITY COUNCIL REGULAR SESSION 

321 WALNUT STREET, GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TUESDAY, MAY 02, 2023 – 7:00 PM 

MINUTES 

Invocation & Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag - Chaplain Joseph Williams, CCSO 

Roll Call 

COUNCIL MEMBERS PRESENT: Mayor Matt Johnson, Vice Mayor Connie Butler, Council 

Member Ed Gaw, Council Member Steven Kelley, Council Member Thomas Smith 

STAFF MEMBERS PRESENT: L.J. Arnold, III, City Attorney, Steve Kennedy, City Manager, Mike 

Null, Assistant City Manager, Erin West, City Clerk 

Mayor to call on members of the audience wishing to address the Council on matters not on the Agenda. 

1. Van Royal 3688 LaCosta Ct. GCS speaks about Public Service being honored this week and 

talks about the awards given last week for 2023 Celebrate Clay Awards.  11 of those awards 

were to people from Green Cove Springs.  Mr. Royal speaks about the number of volunteers in 

the community and suggests recognizing those volunteers once a quarter. 

AWARDS & RECOGNITION 

1. Proclamation - Public Service Recognition Week 

Mayor Johnson reads and presents the proclamation. 

2. Proclamation - National Police Week 

Mayor Johnson reads and presents the proclamation. 

PRESENTATIONS 

3. FMPA - May 2023 Bob Page 

Mr. Bob Page presents the May FMPA report. 

CONSENT AGENDA 

All matters under the consent agenda are considered to be routine by the city council and will be enacted 

by one motion in the form listed below. There will be no separate discussion on these items. If discussion 

is desired, that item will be removed from the consent agenda and will be considered separately. Backup 

documentation and staff recommendations have been previously submitted to the city council on these 

items. 

Motion to approve Consent Agenda items 4 through 10 minus item 7. 

Motion made by Council Member Kelley, Seconded by Vice Mayor Butler. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Johnson, Vice Mayor Butler, Council Member Gaw, Council Member 

Kelley, Council Member Smith 

 

Page 156

Item #8.



May 02, 2023 Minutes Page 2 of 3 

 

 

4. City Council approval of the Military Service Day Proclamation.  Erin West 

5. City Council approval of the National Safe Boating Week Proclamation.  Erin West 

6. City Council approval to surplus Police Boat # 142, a 1995 Cobia center console which has 

surpassed its useful life cycle. Scott Schultz 

7. City Council approval of Walnut Street Roadway Plans and Parking lot between Palmetto 

Avenue and the St Johns River.  Michael Daniels 

Van Royal 3688 LaCosta Ct. GCS speaks about the parking lot.  Mr. Royal asks if the 

stormwater pond will be dry retention.  Development Services Director Michael Daniels advises 

it is dry retention. 

Mr. Royal speaks about the pond and questions about putting it underground. 

Mr. Daniels advises the pond is in the plans due to future development and the stormwater 

already being complete for the future. 

Assistant City Manager Mike Null advises the pond is needed for the parking lot.  In order to 

permit the parking lot Water Management wanted an overflow. 

Council discussion followed concerning the pond and parking lot. 

Motion to approve Consent Agenda item 7. 

Motion made by Council Member Kelley, Seconded by Vice Mayor Butler. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Johnson, Vice Mayor Butler, Council Member Gaw, Council Member 

Kelley, Council Member Smith 

8. City Council approval of Change Order #3 to EltonAlan, Inc. for construction of the Palmetto 

Trail Project in the additive amount of $1,375.00 and three (3) days contract time.  Mike Null 

9. City Council approval to purchase a new grapple truck to replace truck #702 from Peterson 

Industries under Sourcewell contract # 040621-PII in the amount of $203,438.77.  Steve Thomas 

10. City Council approval of the Mental Health Awareness Month Proclamation.  Erin West 

COUNCIL BUSINESS 

11. First Reading of Ordinance O-14-2023-property transfer from the City to DR Horton, Inc. related 

to the Rookery Development.  Michael Daniels 

City Attorney Arnold reads Ordinance No. O-14-2023 by title. 

Development Services Director Michael Daniels speaks concerning the ordinance. 

Helena Cormier 3829 Woodbridge Crossing Ct. GCS asks what type of development DR Horton 

will be using this property for. 

Mr. Daniels advises this is the Rookery Development with an estimated 2100 homes. 

Motion to approve the first reading of Ordinance O-14-2023, regarding the property 

transfer of 21.3 acres from the City to DR Horton, Inc. 

Motion made by Vice Mayor Butler, Seconded by Council Member Smith. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Johnson, Vice Mayor Butler, Council Member Gaw, Council Member 

Kelley, Council Member Smith 

 

Page 157

Item #8.



May 02, 2023 Minutes Page 3 of 3 

 

 

12. City Manager & City Attorney Reports / Correspondence 

The City Manager and City Attorney made comments regarding various city activities, events, 

operations, and projects. 

City Manager Steve Kennedy speaks to the Governor’s Creek Boat ramp funding.  Mr. Kennedy 

advises the legislature has appropriated $1 million for Phase 1 of the project.  Approving 

Resolution No. R-07-2023 will establish a Governors Creek Boat Ramp Oversight Committee. 

Council discussion followed concerning the resolution. 

Emergency motion to approve Resolution No. R-07-2023 relating to the Governor’s Creek 

Boat Ramp project. 

Motion made by Council Member Smith, Seconded by Vice Mayor Butler. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Johnson, Vice Mayor Butler, Council Member Gaw, Council Member 

Kelley, Council Member Smith 

13. City Council Reports / Correspondence 

The City Council made comments regarding various city activities, events, operations, and 

projects. 

Adjournment 

There being no further business to come before the City Council, the meeting was adjourned at 9:13 

p.m. 

 CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 
 

 Daniel M. Johnson, Mayor 

  

Attest:  

 
 

Erin West, City Clerk  

 

Page 158

Item #8.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council Regular Session. MEETING DATE: 06/20/2023 

FROM: Steve Thomas 

SUBJECT: Approval of Task Order to Tocoi Engineering to modify and update the West Street 

Drainage Project plans in the amount of $36,000. Steve Thomas 
 

BACKGROUND 

City Council approved to bid the West St drainage project and staff received bids on April 10,2023 at 

10:00am.  We had two bidders one Elton Allen Inc @ a lump sum number of $2,176,936 and DB Civil 

Construction LLC of a lump sum bid of $2,699,650 both bids were over budget and Council approved to 

accept the bid from Elton Allen, but they had to back out because their sub-contractor backed out on 

them.  

At the June 6, 2023 Council Meeting, Council approved staff’s recommendation to reject all bids and 

have the engineer further refine the scope of the project prior to rebidding.  Staff is recommending 

approval of the attached task order to Tocoi Engineering to value engineer the construction plans and 

provide additional information in the bid documents. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

406-3036-5006307 - $36,000.00 

RECOMMENDATION 

Approve of Task Order to Tocoi Engineering to modify and update the West Street Drainage Project 

plans in the amount of $36,000. 
 

Page 159

Item #9.



Page 160

Item #9.



Page 161

Item #9.



Proclamation 
WHEREAS, it is an outstanding achievement for a Scout to attain the rank of Eagle Scout; and 
 
WHEREAS, nationally only four percent of the young boys entering the Scouting Program reach this 
prestigious rank; and 
 
WHEREAS, many of the experiences in the Scouting program teach leadership, self-respect and respect 
for his fellowman, which will benefit a Scout and the community in future years; and 
 
WHEREAS, the rank of Eagle Scout requires the devotion of many hours of service to his family, church, 
and the community; and 
 
WHEREAS, EVAN CROOK constructed trail markers to identify native plant species in Camp 
Chowenwaw; and 
 
WHEREAS, EVAN CROOK has been a member of Troop 577 since 2019 earning 27 Merit Badges and 
served as Senior Patrol Leader and Patrol Leader.  He continues to participate as an adult volunteer 
holding the position of Junior Assistant Scoutmaster; and 
 
WHEREAS, EVAN CROOK recently graduated from Clay High as a Capstone Honor Program graduate 
where he was a 4 year varsity cross country runner, a 3 year varsity track distance runner, and earned 
the bilingual certification award.  He also earned the Florida Bright Futures scholarship, the Clay Electric 
scholarship, and the Florida Association of Labor Union Women scholarship; and 
 
WHEREAS, EVAN CROOK has recently been accepted into the Florida State Junior College for the 
Professional Pilot Technology Associate of Science Degree, where he will concurrently earn college 
credit, aviation certifications and flight training. He plans to pursue a career as a commercial pilot upon 
completion in 2 years. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT PROCLAIMED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GREEN COVE 
SPRINGS, FLORIDA, AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1. The City Council of Green Cove Springs hereby recognizes and congratulates 
EVAN CROOK for his achievement in reaching the rank of Eagle Scout. 

 
Section 2. A true copy of this Proclamation shall be spread upon the Official Minutes of the City 

Council of the City of Green Cove Springs. 
 

DONE AND PROCLAIMED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, 
FLORIDA, IN REGULAR SESSION THIS 11TH DAY OF JULY, 2023. 

       CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 
 
 
              
       Constance W. Butler, Mayor 
 
       ATTEST: 
 
 
              
       Erin West, City Clerk 

Page 162

Item #10.



Proclamation 
WHEREAS, it is an outstanding achievement for a Scout to attain the rank of Eagle Scout; and 
 
WHEREAS, nationally only four percent of the young boys entering the Scouting Program reach this 
prestigious rank; and 
 
WHEREAS, many of the experiences in the Scouting program teach leadership, self-respect and respect 
for his fellowman, which will benefit a Scout and the community in future years; and 
 
WHEREAS, the rank of Eagle Scout requires the devotion of many hours of service to his family, church, 
and the community; and 
 
WHEREAS, TYLER CROOK constructed a display case, four display doors, and a protective barrier for 
windows at Camp Chowenwaw Museum; and 
 
WHEREAS, TYLER CROOK has been a member since 2018 earning 31 Merit Badges and 2 Eagle 
Palms, and served as Senior Patrol Leader.  He continues to participate as Troop Historian; and 
 
WHEREAS, TYLER CROOK earned the Green Cove Springs Key to the City for his community service, 
was a NJROTC Cadet for 2 years, is a varsity swimmer, in Beta Club, National Honor Society, and 
National Technical Honor Society; and 
 
WHEREAS, TYLER CROOK is currently attending Middleburg High School, where he will be a junior this 
fall and is an Electrical Technical Academy student.  He attends St. John’s River State College pursing 
an AA degree in engineering. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT PROCLAIMED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GREEN COVE 
SPRINGS, FLORIDA, AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1. The City Council of Green Cove Springs hereby recognizes and congratulates 
TYLER CROOK for his achievement in reaching the rank of Eagle Scout. 

 
Section 2. A true copy of this Proclamation shall be spread upon the Official Minutes of the City 

Council of the City of Green Cove Springs. 
 

DONE AND PROCLAIMED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, 
FLORIDA, IN REGULAR SESSION THIS 11TH DAY OF JULY, 2023. 

       CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 
 
 
              
       Constance W. Butler, Mayor 
 
       ATTEST: 
 
 
              
       Erin West, City Clerk 

Page 163

Item #11.



Page 164

Item #12.



Page 165

Item #12.



Page 166

Item #12.



Page 167

Item #12.



  

     City of Green Cove Springs 
(904) 297-7500     321 Walnut Street              Green Cove Springs, FL 32043 
Florida Relay – Dial 7-1-1          www.greencovesprings.com 

M E M O R A N D U M 
 
 

To:  Steve Kennedy, City Manager 
 

From:  Development Services Department 

 
Date:  June 1, 2023 

 
Subject: Monthly Planning, Code Enforcement and Building Report for May, 2023 

 
 

PLANNING 

In May, two new business license was issued: 
1. Dreamette Green Cove Springs 

2. A1 Pavimento 
3. Sunrise to Sunset LLC (owner change) 

4. Pelican’s Snoballs (owner change) 

 
Total Business Tax Revenue for May were $200.00.  
  
During the month of May, Staff:  

• Approved the Preliminary Plat and Improvement Plan for the Rookery Phase 1 Development 

• Completed the Property Transfer of the FTC property between the Rookery and the City Approved 

the Mobility Ordinance 

• Adopted the Community Redevelopment Area Redevelopment Plan for the Downtown Area 

• Began or continued reviewing the following site development plans:  

• Dollar Tree Plaza (to add two commercial outparcels, modify parking, and modify 
landscaping),  

• Habitat for Humanity Office building on West Street  

• Office/Warehouse Building on Green Cove Avenue 
• Completed 19 lien search requests, and 2 permit applications. 
• Revenues for Planning related fees for May were $5,367.37. 

CODE ENFORCEMENT  

In May, there were thirty new enforcement complaints filed. Voluntary compliance was achieved for fifteen 

of the cases resulting in case closure. For Fiscal Year 2022-2023, Code Enforcement has collected $9,675.00 

in Code Enforcement fines. 

 

Month of May courtesy notice of violation/notice of violation. 

•        15 of 30 courtesy notices of violation/notice of violation complied which led to 50% compliance. 

Page 168

Item #12.

http://www.greencovesprings.com/


  

•        14 cases from courtesy notice of violation lead to notice of violation.  

•        4 of 14 notices of violation voluntary compliance was achieved resulting in case closure. 

•        27 of 30 cases complied on May 17th Special Magistrate Hearing. 

•     One hundred dollars collected for administrative fee. 

 

BUILDING 

Building permit activity increased from April to May. The total number of building permits issued in May 

was 58 compared to 39 in April. Permit activity for May 2023 decreased by 13% from May 2022.   
 

Revenues for Building related fees for May was $10,187. 
 

 

May 2023 PERMIT SUMMARY 

RESIDENTIAL NEW 0 

COMMERCIAL NEW 0 

RESIDENTIAL ADDITION 7 

COMMERCIAL ADDITION 0 

RESIDENTIAL REMODEL / 
 IMPROVEMENT 0 

COMMERCIAL REMODEL /  
IMPROVEMENT 1 

DEMOLITION 0 

SIGNS 0 

POOLS 0 

RE-ROOFING 16 

FENCES 6 

MECHANICAL / ELECTRICAL / PLUMBING 27 

OTHER PERMITS 1 

TOTAL PERMITS ISSUED 58 

Page 169

Item #12.



  

 

Page 170

Item #12.



 

        ELECTRIC DEPARTMENT             
 

 

Significant activities for the month of May 2023 
 

 

 21     Streetlights repaired 

   6     Permanent meter installed 

   1     Reverse solar meter installed 

   1     Meter removed 

   4     Poles replaced 

 13     Poles removed 

 13     New poles installed 

   5     Voltage check 

   2     Surge suppressors installed 

   1     Service removed for demolition 
 

  

 

In addition to the activities listed above, the Electric Department also: 

 

 Conducted daily morning safety meetings. 

 Conducted daily truck inspections. 

 Trimmed limbs and vines from power lines and poles. 

 Unloaded transformers and supplies when they came in. 

 Inspect/locate ROW permits. 

 Conduct warehouse inventory/order supplies. 

 1408 N. Orange Ave., de-energized 2 pot bank for meter can replacement. 

 310 Bayard Rd., replaced arrestor and jumper due to pole fire. 

 Magnolia Point, change hand holes, junction connections and 2 concrete pads for transformers. 

 411., S. Palmetto Ave., installed triplex and u-guard. 

 1009 Bunker Ave., change out crossarm to fiberglass. 

 1999 Medinah Ln., replaced arrestors, after confirming no damage to the meter socket. 

 3507 Grand Victoria Ct., replaced secondary hand hole. 

 Spring Park., installed URD power to the park. 

 3029 US 17 N., changed out x-arm to fiberglass and move to top of the pole. 

 406 Palm St. repaired broken secondary neutral. 

 

 
Page 171

Item #12.

http://www.greencovesprings.com/


During the month of May, the Electric Department responded to 

the following outages: 

 

05/04/2023 – Between 8:13 a.m. – 10:00 a.m.,313 Vermont Ave., roofer got connections together burnt down 

service, replaced wires, 2 customers affected. 

05/10/2023 – Between 4:00 p.m. – 5:00 p.m., 3085 Anderson Rd., blown transformer fuse by squirrel, 1 

customer affected. 

05/18/2023 – Between 9:30 a.m. – 11:00 a.m., 1 Bunker Ave., transformer fuse replaced, 1 customers 

affected. 

05/22/2023 – Between 3:15 p.m. – 5:00 p.m., 2972 Majestic Oaks Ln., storm lightning damaged transformer, 6 

customers affected. 

05/23/2023 – Between 5:45 p.m. – 8:15 p.m., 105 St Johns Ave ., damaged transformer replaced, 4 customers 

affected. 

05/25/2023 – Between 6:00 p.m. – 8:00 p.m., 401 Highland Ave., jumper felt out of connections, 60 customers 

affected. 

05/30/2023 – Between 11:00 a.m. – 11:39 p.m., 3248 & 3272 CR 209, blown transformer fuse by squirrel, 1 

customer affected. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Page 172

Item #12.



Electric Utility Top Consumption Customers (kwh/meter) for 

May: 

NAME                             SERVICE ADDRESS           KWH                 AMOUNT 

Clay County Jail                                   901 N. Orange Ave.              216,840             $ 26,310.02 

St. Johns Landing            1408 N. Orange Ave.              209,550             $ 27,710.60 

Winn Dixie Stores, Inc                        3260 Hwy. 17 N.   190,200             $ 22,945.00 

Kindred Health                                801 Oak St.               161,800             $ 19,606.00 

Permabase Building Products           1767 Wildwood Rd                      138,720                        $ 16,846.00 

Tamko Roofing Products            914 Hall Park Rd.  119,680             $ 16,560.40 

BD Of Public Instruction                     2025 State Road 16            113,800             $ 16,300.00 

BD Of County Commissioner             825 N. Orange Ave.              107,200             $ 14,383.00 

Clay County Court House                   825 N. Orange Ave.              100,800                         $ 12,279.60 

Governors Creek #436                        803 Oak St.                                     78,800                         $   9,990.00 

City of Green Cove Springs            1277 Harbor Road                         76,080                         $   8,895.20 

Wen South LLC/Wendy's FL.               3266 Highway 17                          76,080                         $   9,650.00 

City of Green Cove Springs            Set Street Lights                             66,392                         $   8,974.92 

Duval Asphalt Products, Inc.              1921 Jersey Ave                             62,400                         $ 11,345.00 

Garber Realty/GMC                             3340 Highway 17                           59,360                         $   7,656.40 

BD Of County Commissioner              477 Houston St (dmv)                   57,440                        $    7,604.40 

Coral Ridge Foods                                1165 N Orange Ave.      55,920              $    6,934.80 

VAC-CON               954 Hall Park Rd.                            54,320                       $    6,991.20 

BD Of Public Instruction                      801 Center St                                   53,120                       $    7,028.40 

BD Of Public Instruction                      1 N Oakridge Ave                             52,800                       $    7,776.80 

Ammcon Corp.                                      1503 County Road 315 Ste 201     49,500                       $    6,930.50 

Pegasus Technologies                          932 Pilot Dr Hanger 3 & 4              48,840                       $    6,381.80 

BD Of Public Instruction                      Clay High School                               46,560                       $    6,815.60 

Race Trac Petroleum, Inc.                   3106 Highway 17                              44,720                       $    5,439.20 
Page 173

Item #12.



Electric Utility Department Capital Projects: 

Pole top switch replacement 

This project began 09-18-2019 with the installation of switches at Governors Creek for restoration plan if 

isolation of north feeder across Governors Creek Bridge during extreme emergencies. Project is now in the 

inspection and evaluation process involving Chapman 2 extension to Harbor Rd and load transfer of Chapman 1 

to Chapman 2.  

 

13kV to 23kv Conversion – US17 from Harbor Road to CR 315 

Planning for this project has begun.  This project will continue the Chapman 1 and Chapman 2 circuits north of 

Harbor Road to provide capacity and reliability for existing and future customers north of Governors Creek.  

Materials for this project are being funded by a DEO Grant. Materials have started arriving and we are installing 

the material as it arrives. 

 

Governors Creek Hardening Project 

This project will allow the overhead conductor crossing Governors Creek to be placed underground from Grove 

Street to Harbor Road. This project has been split into two phases: (1) design and permitting and (2) 

construction.  It is being 75% funded by a FEMA HMGP grant. Phase 1 is complete. The project is now being 

evaluated by FDEM and FEMA funding for the construction phase. Once funding is in place and a contract is 

executed, bidding and construction should take approximately 9 months. This project will also support to 

extension of Chapman 1 and Chapman 2 circuits north of Governors Creek to provide additional capacity and 

reliability for all customers north of Governors Creek. 

Page 174

Item #12.



 

North and South Substation Improvements 

North and South substation sub-station upgrades have begun with directional bore designs completed to install 

URD 23KV feeds to substation transformers eliminating the possibility of catastrophic failure in the event of 

lightning or material failure which could cause conductor to fall into existing bus work.  

 

Page 175

Item #12.



Page 1 of 5 

 

Public Works 
Monthly Executive Summary 

May 2023 
 
Street Department 
During the month of May, The Street Department has been busy throughout the city.  Additional 

activities included:  

 

• Trim back limbs and vegetation on the city rights-of-way.  

• Stormwater project completed in Olive Street area. 

• Setup for traffic control for Food Truck Friday, May 5th. 

• Setup for traffic control for Third Saturday Market in the Park, May 20th. 

• Prep Public Works compound for construction.  

 
The Street Department completed 19 additional work orders that pertained to street and stormwater 
issues. 
 

Parks Department 
 
During the month of May, the Parks Department mowed, trimmed, and edged all areas one time 

including the DOT rights-of-way, all City rights-of-way, City Parks, and FCT property.   Additional 

activities included:  

• Monthly playground equipment inspection and necessary repairs.  

• Clean storm drains City Wide.  

• Cleaned the pool 3 times.  

• Preparation for the 2023 Annual Riverfest Festival. 

• Pressure-washed the pool deck and furniture to prepare for pool opening on May 5th. 

 
The Parks Department completed 1 additional work orders outside of their normal daily work schedules. 
 

Equipment Maintenance 
 
The Equipment Maintenance Shop, as always, works hard to keep the equipment and vehicles going so 
the city can continue to provide our citizens with the exceptional service they are accustomed to.  
During the month of May, Danny, John, and Donald completed 74 work orders.   

 
Tradesworker 
 
During the month of May, 32 work orders were completed.  

 

Page 176

Item #12.



Page 2 of 5 

 
Solid Waste Department 
 
       Cove Life, Litter Cleanup Program & New Services: 

• Picked up everything around the rollout cans. 

• Picked up as much loose trash, palm fronds, and sticks as possible on the streets, along the 
R.O.W. and ditches regardless of if it is near a container or not. 

• Delivered 6 trash cans and 6 recycle bins to new customers. 

• Delivered 6 recycle bins to current customers. 

• Repaired 6 trash cans.  

• Replaced 19 trash cans.   
 
This month May, the city collected:   

• 299.40 tons of Class I garbage (3% decrease) 

• 16.39 tons of recycling (14% increase) 

• 120.65 tons of yard waste (8% decrease) 

• 8.72 tons of white goods and other junk 

• 88.12 tons Sludge 

• 0 tons Street Sweeping  
 

 
For comparison during May 2022, the city collected: 

• 307.70 tons of Class I garbage  

• 14.39 tons of recycling  

• 130.69  tons of yard waste 

• 19.14  tons of white goods and other junk 

• 165.14 tons Sludge 

• 0 Street Sweeping  
 
 

 
 

Water/Wastewater 
 

• W/WW crews/management had personal interaction with several citizens regarding 
water/sewer issues. 

• Contacted all customers on water and irrigation “Highest Users” report that had unusual 
consumption (not usually on report) 

• Staff continues to refine the scope and financials of the consolidated AWWTP, expanded 
reclaimed water system, wastewater collection system improvements and water system capital 
improvements to obtain maximum grant potential, optimize loan conditions and minimize 
impact to customers. 

• W/WW/RW Projects; 
o Design of the improvements to the city’s wastewater treatment system (all phases) is 

complete.  In order to maximize grant opportunities, the initial construction phase was 
split into two pieces, for a total of four phases; 

▪ Phase I is construction of the on-site reclaimed water system (storage tanks, 
high service pumps, electrical) at the existing Harbor Road Facility, and 
rehabilitation of Master Lift Stations #2 and #4.  This phase went out to bid in 
January in two parts – plant reclaimed water improvements & lift station #2 & 

Page 177

Item #12.



Page 3 of 5 

#4.  Construction was completed in June 2020.  The total Phase I cost is 
$6,120,600. Staff received $4,063,425.00 in “Principal Forgiveness” (grant) from 
FDEP (SRF).   

▪ Phase II: 

• Construction of the new 1.25 million gallon per day (MGD) advanced 
wastewater treatment plant (AWWTP) at the Harbor Road site.   
Construction approximately 75% complete 

 
 

▪ Phase III: 

• A new force main from Lift Station #2 diverting the sewage from the 
South Plant to Harbor Road (all sewage generated in the City will be 
treated at the new Harbor Road AWWTP). 

• Decommissioning and “mothballing” of the South Wastewater 
Treatment Plant.  The permit will remain in place and the plant could be 
re-commissioned at a later date depending on future activities at the 
Reynolds site. 

▪ Phase IV (future – determined by growth) is a second identical 1.25 MGD 
AWWTP built at the Harbor Road site.  An alternative would be construction of 
this train at the South Plant site in Reynolds Park if the southern /Reynolds 
portion of our service territory is where significant growth occurs 

▪ Phase V (future – determined by growth) is a third identical 1.25 MGD AWWTP 
built at the Harbor Road or Reynolds site.   

o Sanitary Sewer Evaluation Survey (SSES) of the Core City wastewater collection system is 
complete, including Mittauer final report.  Staff utilizes this data daily in evaluating 
collection system repairs and requests for sewer connections. 

o Continuing to work with FDOT and Clay County on utility relocations associated with the 
First Coast Expressway and Clay County road expansions (CR 315 & CR 209 / Russel 
Road).  

• Senate Bill 64:  In 2021 the Florida Senate approved SB 64, which requires wastewater 
treatment plants to eliminate surface water discharges by 2035, which has become a significant 
financial burden to utilities.  This requires the city to eliminate effluent discharge from the 
Harbor Road and South wastewater treatment plants to the St. Johns River.   While the city has 
been implementing reclaimed water projects for several years, there are not enough uses to 
take all of the city’s treated wastewater.  In November 2021 the city submitted to FDEP a plan as 
to how surface water discharges will be eliminated.   

 
Potable Water: 

• Staff and Mittauer have completed a full review of the future capital needs of the water system.  
A comprehensive capital improvement program (CIP) has been developed as part of the Water 
Master Plan.  As in the past, the timing of many of these improvements is driven by future 
activities in Reynolds Industrial Park and other areas of our service territory.  The city has 
received an FDEP – SRF loan for Planning and Engineering of several of the CIP improvements so 
that as the need for the improvements occur, the City is ahead of the game and can apply very 
quickly to SRF for actual construction dollars as “shovel-ready” projects.  The total design project 
cost is $356,800.00, with a $178,400.00 (50%) principal forgiveness (grant), leaving an actual 
loan of $180,100.00. 

• Reynolds Water System Improvements:   

• New water mains along two primary streets to remedy fire hydrants that were 
inadequate. 

• New 12” water main crossing under SR 16 to replace aging mains that endanger the 
integrity of the road.  This eliminated four existing crossings. 

Page 178

Item #12.



Page 4 of 5 

• New water main along Red Bay Road eliminating existing aging and leaking pipes.  In 
addition remediating fire hydrants that were inadequate. 

• New water main and sewer force main extension from Reynolds Park to and across the 
MOBRO complex.  This extension is designed to supply water, fire protection & sewer 
needs to MOBRO and future developments to the east.  

• Completed September 2021   
 
 
South Service Territory Improvements: 

o New 12” water main loop from US17 along CR 209 S to the existing 12” water main that 
terminated at 4600 CR 209 S.  This also included a new 4” sewer force main from US 17 
along CR 209 S to the First Coast Expressway crossing.  Completed September 2021 

• The City has received grants from the State of Florida Hazard Mitigation Grant Program (HMGP) 
to install auxiliary generators at 17 sewage lift stations, and install generators / raise 
infrastructure at four additional stations.  The grant funds 75% of the improvements.  
Approximately 99% complete 

• Continued remediation of malfunctioning or out-of-service hydrants. 

• Operated and maintained the Harbor Rd. and South Wastewater Treatment Plants as well as the 
Harbor Rd. and Reynolds Water Treatment Plants to meet the requirements of Regulatory 
Agencies. 

• Continued to make process control adjustments at the Harbor Rd. and South WWTP in efforts to 
further lower Total Nitrogen and Total Phosphorus levels being discharged to the St. Johns River.  

• Continued landscape maintenance at Water and Wastewater Treatment Facilities as well as lift 
stations. 

• Continued preventative maintenance on all treatment facility generators. 

• Completed 2 new services. 

• Completed 54 water related work orders. 

• Completed 19 sewer related work orders. 

• Responded to 184 utilities locate requests. 

 
 

 
TOP 10 WATER CUSTOMERS MAY 2023 

 Largest Largest 
 (By Consumption) (By Dollar Amount) 
Rank CONSUMER  Rank CONSUMER  
 
1  Sheriff’s Department                                                        1           Sheriff’s Department  
2 Premier Surface Design LLC 2           Premier Surface Design LLC 
3            Kindred Health 3           Kindred Health 
4 Clay Port INC                                                                       4           Clay County Court House 
5            Clay County Court House             5            Governors Creek #436 
6 Governors Creek#436 6            Clay Port INC 
7            Springs Coin Laundry   7            Springs Coin Laundry 
8            Connie L. Holder 203 Citizen St.                                      8            Clay Port INC                                                        
9            Wiggins Construction   9            Vac-Con 
10 Diamond Assisted Living  10          Vac-Con 
                                                           

 

Page 179

Item #12.



Page 5 of 5 

TOP 10 IRRIGATION CUSTOMERS MAY 2023 
 Largest Largest 
 (By Consumption) (By Dollar Amount) 
Rank CONSUMER  Rank CONSUMER  
 
1        Sheriff’s Department     1    Sheriff’s Department   
2        Permabase Building Products       2    Mobro MarineINC     
3        Mobro Marine INC  3    Permabase Building Products  
4        Magnolia Point Investments 4    AMH Development NON RES    
5        Magnolia Point Association 5    Magnolia Point Investments  
6        AMH Development Non Res     6    Magnolia Point Association  
7        Green Cove Springs Junior High 7    Green Cove Springs Junior High 
8        Vallencourt Construction   8    Vallencourt Construction   
9        Stephen Williams 9    Race Trac Petroleum INC                                                                         
10      Race Trac Petroleum INC                                                   10    Edgewater Landing HOA of Clay     

 
 

TOP 10 SEWER CUSTOMERS MAY 2023 
 Largest Largest 
 (By Consumption) (By Dollar Amount) 
Rank CONSUMER  Rank CONSUMER  
 
1 St. John’s Landing 1 St John’s Landing 
2 Sheriff’s Department 2 Sheriff’s Department 
3 Premier Surface Design LLC 3 Premier Surface Design LLC 
4 Kindred Health 4            Kindred Health 
5 Clay Port INC 5            Clay County Court House                                                               
6 Clay County Court House 6            Governors Creek #436                                                                         
7   Governors Creek#436                                                       7            Clay Port INC 
8    Springs Coin Laundry  8            Spring Coin Laundry 
9            Connie L Holder         9            Diamond Assisted Living 
10          Wiggins Construction CO  10          Vac-Con 

 
Wastewater Plant Capacity Status 

 
South Plant:  TMDL Capacity 0.350 MGD*,  

• Current Loading 0.250 MGD*, 72% Capacity (April 2023 Annual Average) 

• Current & Committed (.065) Loading 0.316 MGD*, 90% Capacity 

• Current, Committed (.065) & Requested (0.40) Loading 0.369 MGD*, 102% Capacity 
 
Harbor Road:  TMDL Capacity 0.650 MGD* 

• Current Loading 0.480 MGD*, 75% Capacity (April 2023 Annual Average) 

• Current & Committed (0) Loading 0.483 MGD*, 75% Capacity 

• Current, Committed & Requested (0) Loading 0.483 MGD*, 75% Capacity 
*MGD = Million Gallons per Day       
                          Note:  No Reynolds growth or loading projections included in above. 
 

Page 180

Item #12.


	Top
	Item #1.	Copy of Copy of Comprehensive Plan Transmittal Amendment regarding the mobility plan
	PZB Staff Report Comp Plan Transmittal (3)
	O-13-2022 Adopting Mobility Fee CP Ordinance
	Adoption Comp Plan Amendment Mobility Plan
	GREEN COVE SPGS 23-01ESR (P)
	City of Green Cove Springs proposed comprehensive plan amendment 23-01ESR 
	City_of_Green_Cove_Springs_23-1ESR_T_FDOT_D2_Letter
	Green Cove Springs 23-01ESR Proposed
	Table_Review_CompPlans_MAY_2023_Board

	Item #2.	O-18-2023 - Solid Waste Fee - Second Hearing
	City Staff Report -Ordinance O-18-2023 increase solid waste rates second reading 6-20-2023
	Ordinance O-18-2023- Modify City Code Section 66-7 Collection Rates and Charges

	Item #3.	O-19-2023 - Stormwater Utility Fee - second hearing
	City Staff Report 06-20-2023 of Ordinance O-19-2023 increase base charge and user fees Stormwater Utility 2nd hearing
	Ordinance No. O-19-2023- Modify City Code Section 70-7 and 70-8 Base Rates and User Fee Charges Stormwater Utility 6-8-2023 (004)

	Item #4.	Copy of ZON-23-004 Green Cove Springs C-Store Rezoning - O-17-2023
	Staff Report_PZB_CStore_Zon
	Green Cove Springs C-Store Rezoning Application Package
	Ordinance O-17-2023 - RZ - Hall 5.18.23

	Item #5.	Palmetto Ave Pay App #9 - EltonAlan
	Palmetto Ave - EltonAlan Pay App #9 Staff Report - 062023
	LAP Palmetto Avenue Invoice No. 9; G2390; 435677-1-58-01

	Item #6.	3rd eye camera purchase for fleet
	staff report Cameras on City Trucks_062023
	3rd Eye Camera Quotes

	Item #7.	City Code Section 113-190
	Staff Report for City Code Section 113-190
	City Code Estimate materail three phase 2023
	City Code section 113-190
	2023 City Code Estimate labor single phase
	2023 City Code Estimate labor three phase
	City Code Estimate materail single phase 2023

	Item #8.	MINS: 4/18, 5/2 REG
	2023-04-18 - Regular Minutes
	2023-05-02 - Regular Minutes

	Item #9.	Tocoi Task order for West St modification of plans.
	ITEM-Staff-7512d91290844841aced3d76fc4f851b (7)
	West St task order

	Item #10.	CA: Evan Crook Proclamation
	Eagle Scout - Evan Crook

	Item #11.	CA: Tyler Crook Proclamation
	Eagle Scout - Tyler Crook

	Item #12.	City Manager & City Attorney Reports / Correspondence
	May 2023
	2023 May MONTHLY REPORT Building-CE-PZ23
	Electric Dept - May 2023
	Public Works - May  2023

	Bottom

